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GENERAL INFORMATION
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The following changes took place during the year:
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Fernando Rodrigues

(appointed as Executive Board Member on 15th December 2010)
(resigned on 1st October 2010)

Company secretary
Simon Tortell
Registered office
Level 2, 203
Rue D’Argens
Gzira GZR 1368
MALTA
Auditors
Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants
Fourth Floor
Regional Business Centre
Achille Ferris Street
Msida MSD 1751
MALTA

2

BANIF BANK (MALTA) PLC
Annual Report and Financial Statements 2010

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
The Directors present their annual report together with the audited financial statements of the Bank for the year
ended 31 December 2010.
The Board of Directors who served during the year are as listed under the General Information section.
Principal activities
Banif Bank (Malta) plc (the “Bank”) was incorporated on the 27 March 2007. The Bank was set up as a fullyowned subsidiary of Banif SGPS SA with an authorised and issued share capital of EUR50 million and EUR15
million respectively.
The Bank was also granted a licence to operate as a credit institution on the 27 March 2007 in terms of the
Banking Act, Cap. 371 of the Laws of Malta. The Bank provides a full range of commercial banking services to
both residents and non-residents through a network of 8 branches, a Corporate and Business Banking Unit as
well as an Executive Banking Unit.
In 2008, a number of local investors were invited to participate in the ownership of the company and in total they
subscribed for 28% of the share capital in issue at the time. Later on that year, the company increased its issued
share capital to 25 million ordinary shares, which were 60% paid up. The remaining 40% was fully paid in 2009.
The issued share capital now amounts to EUR25 million. No further increases were made during the year under
review.
Review of business development and financial position
Financial performance
During 2010, Banif Bank (Malta) plc continued pursuing its growth strategy with a view to become a reference
and key player in the local banking market. The Bank experienced significant growth both in terms of its lending
and deposit portfolios, and the resultant operating income. The lending portfolio grew by EUR96.9 million,
representing an increase of 162% when compared to the amount of EUR60 million reached by end of 2009
whilst the deposit portfolio grew by EUR287.6 million, representing an increase of 197% when compared to the
amount of EUR146.1 million reached by end of 2009. This growth was supported by further investment in the
Bank’s infrastructure both in terms of its resource capability and the solutions and products offered to its
customers.
The year under review again proved to be another very challenging year due to the sovereign debt crisis in a
number of EU countries including Portugal and the global recession. Being part of an international group with
good standing, the Bank can rely on the full support of its parent and is well positioned to navigate through
difficult times. The Bank remains committed to execute the penetration and growth strategies outlined in its
business plan.
During the year under review, the Bank generated a total operating income of EUR5.126 million, representing a
176% increase when compared with the figure reported in 2009 of EUR1.855 million. Net interest income from
business carried out with banks and non-banks amounted to EUR3.311 million (2009 - EUR1.104 million).
Net fee and commission income amounted to EUR0.806 million (2009 - EUR0.335 million) whilst trading
income amounted to EUR1.009 million (2009 - EUR0.416 million). The Bank increased dealing room trading
during the year, primarily entering into a range of foreign exchange derivatives with a number of customers.
Increased trading activity was also registered in the buying and selling of locally quoted-government and
corporate bonds as well as other bonds issued by other companies within the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT - continued
Review of business development and financial position - continued
In total, operating income covered 60.26% (2009: 27.64%) of the operating expenses. Total operating costs
including personnel expenses, depreciation of property and equipment and amortisation of intangible assets
amounted to EUR8.507 million (2009 - EUR6.712 million). Personnel and directors’ expenses represent 43.63%
(2009: 42.22%) of the total operating costs.
All this translated in a loss after tax for the year of EUR2.675 million, representing EUR0.855 million less than
the amount of EUR3.530 million registered in 2009.
Impairment
In line with the Bank’s provisioning policy and in consideration of the growth in the portfolio of loans and
advances registered during the year under review, the Bank provisioned an amount of EUR0.670 million (2009 EUR0.367 million) for impairment losses. Total provision for impairment as at end of 2010 stood at EUR1.186
million, representing 0.76% of the total lending portfolio (2009: 0.86%). The drop in the percentage was mainly
attributable to a number of recovered amounts for which a specific provision was made in 2009.
Tax
The loss before tax for the year amounted to EUR4.051 million (2009 - EUR5.224 million). Taking into
consideration this loss and the possibility of having this offset against future foreseeable profits for tax purposes,
a positive deferred tax movement of EUR1.378 million was registered. This increased the deferred tax asset
recognised to EUR5.283 million.
Financial position
Total assets reached EUR458.641 million (2009 – EUR170.366 million), of which EUR432.307 million (2009 –
EUR144.374 million) are made up of loans and advances to banks and to customers representing 94.26% (2009 –
84.74%) of the total asset base. Deposit liabilities amounted to EUR433.679 million (2009 – 146.066 million),
with a deposit transformation into customer loan ratio of 36.19% (2009: 41.08%).
The Bank continues to exercise sound asset and liability management with a view to ensure strong and
sustainable regulatory ratios in terms of liquidity and capital adequacy. Excess funds which are not employed in
loans and advances to customers or invested in capital expenditure, are placed with other banks and in a trading
portfolio.
Investment in new properties and equipment and intangible assets, gross of depreciation and amortisation, as at
end of year amounted to EUR0.481million (EUR2.463 million). This drop in new investments was mainly
attributable to the fact that no new immovable properties were acquired during 2010 whereas four new properties
were acquired in 2009. The investment made in 2010 was focused on strengthening the operational capability
and consolidating the investments made in previous years.
Operations
2010 saw Banif Bank strengthening its position in the local market with remarkable growth in both the retail and
corporate lending and deposit portfolios. This was the result of a greater positioning effort in the market,
complemented by a more mature workforce and operational network. Following the rapid growth registered in its
retail branch network in the first two years of operation, the Bank wanted to focus on maximising the use of the
existent network and opted for a short infrastructural consolidation phase. No new retail branches were opened in
2010. The Bank conducted retail operations throughout the year using eight fully operational retail branches and
a corporate and business centre.
On the other hand, investment was stepped up in other areas primarily to stengthen the back office structure and
render the Bank more versatile in meeting increasing customer demand and tapping market opportunities.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT - continued
Review of business development and financial position - continued
During the year under review, the Bank also reached other important milestones with the launch of the corporate
credit and debit cards. Following the trend of previous years, the Bank continued launching a number of
innovative and very competitive deposit and lending products with the aim of increasing penetration in all the
relevant retail sectors of the market, thus increasing market share.
The Bank supported all this taking a right-size approach in making available the necessary technical support and
human resources both at front and back office levels. The staff complement reached 137 by end of 2010,
increasing by 22 from the number of 115 reached by end of December 2009. The Bank remains committed to
guarantee a high quality level of service and provide a service proposition that best meets the market demands.
During 2010, the Bank again invested in a number of product-specific marketing campaigns, launching new
concepts that differentiate the Bank’s product offer in the market. 2010 again saw the Bank’s participation in a
number of national events such as Rockestra, The President’s Charity Fun Run and L-Istrina. The Bank was
overwhelmed by the successful outcome of these events and is committed to further its support for similar
initiatives in the years to come.
Achievements
During the year under review, Banif Bank has been named the Best Banking Group in Malta for 2010 by World
Finance. This award was given in recognition of the Bank’s financial performance, sound corporate governance
and the provision of innovative customer solutions that provide added value to customers. This was an important
achievement and a clear demonstration of the trust the Bank enjoys by clients, employees and shareholders.
Outlook
The Bank is highly confident that 2011 will be another year characterised by further growth in business volumes.
This will be supported by further investments in the Bank’s resource capability in terms of enlarging the branch
network and increasing the number of corporate business teams. The Bank already opened an extension to the
Head Office premises and became fully operational during March. Works are also underway on another retail
branch which is expected to serve its first clients in April.
The Bank is also in its final stages to open its ATM network to the public after a period of internal use and
testing. The Bank is also finalising work on the launch of other services such as the Banif@st Bill Payments
functionality. This is expected to be made available for customers in April.
In doing all this, the Bank will continue investing in immovable property, equipment and software as well as
additional investment in what it considers core to the banking operations, the human resource base. The Bank
remains committed to invest in the development of the existent workforce and recruit high quality, well educated
and experienced persons.
The Bank estimates to invest around EUR3 million in capital projects. Personnel expenses and other
administrative costs are estimated to increase by 6.2% to reach an amount of EUR8.383 million (2010 EUR7.894 million).
Disclosure in terms of the Sixth Schedule to the Companies Act, Cap. 386 of the Laws of Malta
During the year ended 31 December 2010, no shares in the Bank were:
•
•
•

purchased by it or acquired by it by forfeiture or surrender or otherwise;
acquired by another person in circumstances where the acquisition was by the Bank’s nominee, or by
another with the Bank’s financial assistance, the Bank itself having a beneficial interest;
made subject to pledge or other privileges, to a hypothec or to any other charge in favour of the Bank.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT - continued
Preparation of financial statements and Directors’ responsibilities
The Companies Act, Cap. 386 of the Laws of Malta (the “Act”) requires the Directors of Banif Bank (Malta) plc
to prepare financial statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the financial position of
the Bank as at the end of the financial year and of the profit or loss of the Bank for that year in accordance with
the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted by the European Union.
In preparing such financial statements, the Directors are required to:
•
•
•
•

adopt the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Bank will continue in business;
select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently from one accounting year to another;
make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and
account for income and charges relating to the accounting year on the accruals basis.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy, at
any time, the financial position of the Bank and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements have been
properly prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, Cap. 386 of the Laws of Malta and
the Banking Act, Cap. 371 of the Laws of Malta.
The Directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Bank and hence for taking reasonable steps
for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.
The Directors, through management oversight, are responsible to ensure that the Bank establishes and maintains
internal control to provide reasonable assurance with regards to the reliability of financial reporting,
effectiveness and efficiency of operations and compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
Management is responsible, with oversight from the Directors, to establish a control environment and maintain
policies and procedures to assist in achieving the objective of ensuring, as far as possible, the orderly and
efficient conduct of the Bank’s business. This responsibility includes establishing and maintaining controls
pertaining to the Bank’s objective of preparing financial statements as required by the Act and managing risks
that may give rise to material misstatements in those financial statements. In determining which controls to
implement, to prevent and detect fraud, management considers the risks that the financial statements may be
materially misstated as a result of fraud.
Auditors
Messrs. Ernst & Young have signified their willingness to continue in office as auditors of the Bank and a
resolution proposing their reappointment will be put to the Annual General Meeting.
Approved by the Board of Directors on 29 April 2011 and signed on its behalf by:

JOSEPH SAMMUT
Chairman

JOAQUIM F. DA SILVA PINTO
Chief Executive Officer
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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

WITH

THE

PRINCIPLES

OF

GOOD

Banif Bank (Malta) plc believes that good corporate governance should be the basis of every decision and action
taken by the Bank. Despite the fact that the Corporate Governance Guidelines for Public Interest Companies are
not mandatory, Banif Bank (Malta) plc has endorsed such Guidelines and is committed to implement high
standards of corporate governance, except where the business circumstances merit a different treatment.
This statement indicates the extent to which the Bank has adopted these Guidelines.
BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board of Directors manages the affairs of the Bank and is composed of a Chairman, a Secretary and nine
Directors. The Directors are all highly experienced and of an appropriate calibre which is needed in order to
provide the necessary leadership and integrity when directing the Bank. All Directors have occupied or currently
occupy senior positions in various organisations. The Directors have access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary who is responsible for ensuring that the Board procedures and all applicable rules and
regulations are followed.
The shareholders appoint or remove directors on the Board using a transparent approach. Each Director shall
remain in office for a period of three years. The remuneration of the Directors is determined from time to time
during a General Meeting of the Board of Directors.
The Chairman leads and sets the agenda of each of the Board of Directors’ meetings. The Directors who have a
direct or indirect interest in any decision taken by the Board of Directors shall inform the same Board, the nature
of their interest at the meeting and shall not participate and vote in respect of that decision. The Board of
Directors determines the strategic goals and formulates the policies of the Bank, sets the Bank’s values and
standards and regularly reviews the management’s performance towards the attainment of such goals. The Board
of Directors delegates the day-to-day running of the Bank to the Executive Committee (EC) which meets on a
weekly basis. The roles of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chairman of the Board are kept separate.
Minutes of all resolutions and proceedings taken at the meetings of the Board of Directors are documented by the
Board Secretary. Such documents are available for scrutiny and perusal by the external auditors and regulators.
During 2010, the Board of Directors met 9 times. The Directors who served on the Board during the period under
review were the following:
Mr Joseph Sammut
Mr Joaquim Silva Pinto
Mr Nuno Martins
Mr Luis Avides Moreira (appointed on 15th December 2010)
Dr Simon Tortell
Mr Edward Cachia Caruana
Dr Carlos David Duarte de Almeida
Mr Artur Fernandes
Mr Kenneth Mizzi
Chev. Maurice Mizzi
Mr Mark Portelli
Eng. Fernando Rodrigues (resigned on 1st October 2010)
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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE – continued

THE

PRINCIPLES

OF

GOOD

COMMITTEES ESTABLISHED BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Board has established a number of Committees with specific responsibilities, as follows:The Executive Committee
The Executive Committee (the “EC”) meets on a weekly basis to oversee the overall management of the Bank.
The EC is composed of three members, the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Operating Officer and the Chief
Commercial Officer, all of whom are also directors. In this way there is an enduring and ongoing link between
the Board of Directors and the Executive Committee. Formulation of risk strategies and risk profiles, including
policies conducive to the achievement of organisational goals are the responsibility of the EC, however
implementation is delegated to the Departmental Heads through a formally documented organisational structure
with clear and transparent demarcation of functional responsibilities. The EC is also responsible for assessing
credit facilities and taking credit decisions.
The EC also appointed the following committees within the Bank, namely, the Assets and Liabilities Committee,
the Budget and Planning Committee, the Credit Committee, the Products Committee and the ICAAP Committee.
The Audit Committee
The Audit Committee meets on a regular basis in order to monitor and review the effectiveness of the Bank’s
internal audit function and also to monitor the financial reporting process and review the Bank’s internal
financial controls.
The Audit Committee makes recommendations to the Board of Directors regarding the appointment of the
Bank’s external auditors, their remuneration and terms of engagement.
The Audit Committee is composed of three non-executive Directors of the Bank and the Bank’s External
Auditors.
The Properties Committee
This Committee meets in order to discuss and advice the EC on any proposals for the acquisition or the rental of
properties to be utilised for the Bank’s activities. At present, the members of this Committee are the Chief
Operating Officer and two non-executive directors. This Committee meets on a monthly basis.

COMMITTEES ESTABLISHED BY THE EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE
The EC has established a number of Committees with specific responsibilities, as follows:The Assets and Liabilities Committee
The purpose of the Assets and Liabilities Committee (the “ALCO”) meet on a regular basis to analyse financial
information in relation to historic and projected data and to assess the impact that the various types of risks
arising from changes in interest rates, exchange rates and the market have on the profitability of the Bank and the
various other components of the financial statements. This Committee also drives the commercial activity of the
Bank and reviews liquidity risk, compliance risk and capital adequacy risk. It also sets the framework for the
design of policies to address and manage all these types of risk with a view to ensure that adequate mitigating
actions are taken to reduce the negative impacts of adverse movements on the operations of the Bank and on the
financial statements.
The ALCO is made up of the Members of the Executive Committee, and the coordinators of the Commercial
Department, the Risk Department, the Strategy and Image Department, the Treasury Department, the Finance &
Reporting Department and the Control & Compliance Department.
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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE - continued

THE

PRINCIPLES

OF

GOOD

The Budget and Planning Committee
The purpose of the Budget and Planning Committee is to liaise closely with the members of the Executive
Committee of the Bank in transposing the vision and strategic objectives adopted by the Board of Directors into
detailed plans. The committee is responsible for coordinating and assisting in the preparation of the budgets of
all the commercial departments and all supporting back-office units. Furthermore, the Committee takes care of
communicating the budgets, once these are approved by the Board of Directors, and also oversees the actual
implementation of the Bank’s financial plans.
This Committee meets on a quarterly basis and is made up of the Members of the Executive Committee, and the
coordinators of the Commercial Department, the Finance Department, the Human Resources Department, the
Corporate Services Department and the Information Technology Department.
The Credit Committee
This Committee is responsible for assessing credit facilities and taking credit decisions within a certain monetary
and risk bands. Additionally, it makes recommendations to the Executive Committee on credit facilities which
exceed its upper discretionary threshold. It meets regularly on a weekly basis and is chaired by the director
responsible for the commercial activity of the Bank. Other members are the coordinators of the Commercial and
the Risk Management departments.
The Products Committee
The Products Committee meets on a monthly basis in order to maintain a structured approach towards assessing
and developing new products. This Committee is chaired by the coordinator of the Strategy and Image
Department and its members consist of coordinators from the Finance & Reporting Department, the Information
Technology Department, the Treasury Department, the Control & Compliance Department, the Risk
Management Department, the Quality Control & Processes Department and the Commercial Department.
The ICAAP Committee
In order to comply with Pillar 2 requirements emanating from the MFSA Banking Rule 12, as well as to better
manage its overall risk-taking activities, the Bank has set up the ICAAP Committee.
This Committee meets on a regular basis in order to define the risk strategy of the Bank, to identify and quantify
the risks being exposed by the Bank and to quantify the risk taking capacity of the Bank.
Besides submitting the ICAAP report both to the local and Portuguese Regulators, the Committee is now geared
towards going beyond mere technical compliance with Pillar 2 requirements by further reinforcing the soundness
of the risk culture and economic capital management with active participation from all areas of the Bank, namely
the Board of Directors, Executive Committee, Risk Management Department, Treasury Department, Finance &
Reporting Department, Control & Compliance Department, and other relevant business areas/functions.
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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE - continued

THE

PRINCIPLES

OF

GOOD

INTERNAL CONTROL
The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible for internal control within the Bank. The Board is also
responsible for ensuring that the basic roles of corporate responsibility, namely accountability, monitoring,
strategy formulation and policy development are implemented throughout the Bank. From time to time the Board
approves procedures which are aimed at ensuring risk mitigation and the achievement of the Bank’s objectives.
The Board of Directors delegates to the Executive Committee the authority to operate the Bank within the limits
set by the same Board.
On a regular basis, the Bank issues Rules and Procedures to control and/or mitigate material operational risks.
Such policies are subject to a periodic review so as to adjust the process in accordance with the current
operational risk profile. These Rules and Procedures are circulated and adhered to by staff at all times. Any
deviance from policy parameters must be sanctioned outside such policy by the applicable sanctioning level. The
institution prides itself on practising high ethical and professional standards and a very serious view of any
deviance is taken. A robust internal control mechanism premised on separate Compliance, Audit and Risk
functions is followed.
The central plank of the organisation’s risk management strategy is the fact that not only is the risk function
totally independent of all other Bank functions, but additionally the Risk Management Department officials
cannot interact directly with customers in respect of business matters in any way. The function’s independence
facilitates the implementation of risk policies because it is completely insulated from customer interaction and
thus free from any customer induced bias. Achievement of an adequate management of the institution’s risks is
accomplished through a holistic approach, designed to ensure that the entire organisation is aware of the nature
and scale of the risks involved in the Bank’s operations.
In addition, the Bank believes in and practices an internal control mechanism founded on the four-eyes principle,
functional segregation and audit procedures. The Compliance and Anti-Money Laundering Unit advises and
keeps senior management informed on the implication of compliance laws and regulations that have a bearing on
the Bank’s operations. The unit also identifies, documents and assesses the compliance risks associated with the
Bank’s operational activities, including the development of new products and business practices. On the other
hand, the Internal Audit Unit monitors the conformity of the Bank’s operations with the set policies and
standards and reviews key business processes and controls. The frequency of the internal audit reviews depends
on the risk profile of the audited function.
The responsibility for the development of financial forecasts of the Bank in line with the strategic plans devised
by the Board is delegated to the Budget and Planning Committee. These financial forecasts provide the basis for
continuous monitoring and control at various levels within the Bank. The relevant functions are then responsible
to report on financial performance against plans to the Board on a monthly basis, identifying reasons for
variances and, if necessary, corrective actions that need to be taken to ensure that objectives and targets set by
the Board are achieved.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE - continued

THE

PRINCIPLES

OF

GOOD

REMUNERATION REPORT
Directors’ remuneration for the financial year under review was as follows:
EUR
Directors’ salaries paid to full-time Bank employees
Directors’ fees

190,244
191,847

The Directors’ fees were paid to non-executive Directors as follows:
EUR
Artur Fernandes
Carlos David Duarte de Almeida
Edward Cachia Caruana
Joseph Sammut
Kenneth Mizzi
Mark Portelli
Maurice Mizzi
Simon Tortell

15,157
30,944
13,846
69,881
11,250
13,846
13,846
23,077

_______________

191,847

_______________

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
Banif Bank (Malta) plc regards corporate social responsibility as an essential element of its core business. It is
crucial for the growth of the Bank, and is an important factor in wealth creation of the community we form part
of.
The Bank’s sustainability strategy has been developed through a structured process aimed to enable the Bank to
capitalise on the new opportunities presented by a changing society and sustain the social well-being of the
Bank’s staff, clients and the community in general.
The Bank is committed to supporting art, culture, sports and social activities, which are the main pillars of the
Bank’s Corporate Social Responsibility policy. In order to achieve improved social wellbeing, the Bank is in
continuous dialogue with stakeholders to find partners of high standing who share equal values. For the Bank,
supporting society means much more than just writing a cheque: it means investing in the future of our society.
The Bank also provides further support to the local community by offering innovative, high quality and
competitive financial products and services that offer added value to the clients.
The Bank’s logo, the centaur, reflects confidence in building long lasting relationships with the customers, the
employees and the environment in which we live, based on rigour, integrity and openness; humanism in looking
at people as individuals, with their own unique identity; effectiveness in the quality of the service offered in order
to create value; innovation by addressing new trends and needs and act on these in an innovative way; and
ambition which encourages every individual to strive to achieve driven by the “power of believing”.
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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE - continued

THE

PRINCIPLES

OF

GOOD

Community
To keep faith to this ideology, the Bank was actively involved in a number of welfare projects in partnership
with a number of social charities, sport and the arts.
In 2010, the Bank has sustained its healthy relationship and commitment with the Malta Community Chest Fund
by being the main sponsor for The President’s Charity Fun Run in aid of a number of organisations in need. With
this participation, the Bank addressed two main objectives; providing support in aid of the community while
promoting a healthier lifestyle. As a result of its active participation, the Bank presented a contribution which
amounted to EUR151,720.
However, social responsibility does not stop at donating money. It involves being closer to the local community
as this enriches the understanding and needs of the individuals forming that neighborhood. To this effect, the
Bank organised ‘Branch Days’ in each of the branches where the customers were invited to express any needs
they might have in order to enable the Bank to offer a better service. Through these activities the Bank also gave
the opportunity to exhibit works of art by a local artist that helped to collect funds in aid of Din L-Art Helwa.
These funds went towards the restoration of The Church of Our Lady of Victory in Valletta.
Another project to further encourage local arts, involved the publishing of the Bank’s annual calendar portraying
works by the local artist, Mr Joseph Sammut. The water colour paintings were donated to Banif Bank (Malta)
plc, who, in turn presented the sum of EUR10,000 to id-Dar tal-Providenza, another institution which is at heart
of the Maltese community.
Environment
In the first quarter of 2010, Banif Bank (Malta) plc launched the Banif Green Energy Loan, a product which is
specifically aimed to help clients invest in eco friendly products in their households. This package offers
competitive interest rates on loans to further encourage customers to choose these products to provide a better
environment to the whole community, and the future generation.
The Bank’s respect for the environment goes beyond this initiative. As an organisation, it encourages employees
and customers to enforce simple lifestyle changes which will result in a better environment. The offices use
natural lighting or light sensors where possible.
As a financial institution, it is impossible to eliminate paper usage; however, the Bank tries to limit this to a
minimum. It also takes measures to contribute back to the environment by encouraging better management of
carbon emissions.
Employees
The Bank strongly believes in training talented individuals to sustain its growth. Employees also enjoy a number
of staff benefits to promote motivation and well being in the workplace. Moreover, this is achieved through
continuous training, both in-house and external, which is periodically provided to the employees.
The Sports and Activities Committee, also makes a great effort to organise staff events to enhance team building
amongst all employees outside the work environment.
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STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE WITH
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE - continued

THE

PRINCIPLES

OF

GOOD

GOING CONCERN
Having taken into consideration the Bank’s performance and the Bank’s future strategic goals, the Directors
declare that the Bank is able to continue operating as a going concern for the foreseeable future.
Approved by the Board of Directors on 29 April 2011 and signed on its behalf by:

JOSEPH SAMMUT
Chairman

JOAQUIM F. DA SILVA PINTO
Chief Executive Officer
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Notes
Interest receivable and similar income
on loans and advances and balances with the
Central Bank of Malta
Interest payable and similar expense

5
6

Net interest income

1,022
(216)

________________

7

Net trading income

8

Total operating income

1,009

________________

5,126

9
10
18
19

(3,712)
(4,182)
(485)
(128)

________________

(8,507)

________________

Net operating loss before impairment
and provisions

(3,381)
11

Loss before tax

(670)

________________

(4,051)
12

Loss for the year

1,376

________________

(2,675)

________________

Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

Loss per share

806

________________

________________

Total operating expenses

Income tax credit

________________

3,311

Net fee and commission income

Net impairment losses

6,760
(3,449)

________________

Fees and commission income
Fees and commission expense

Personnel expenses
Other administrative expenses
Depreciation of property and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets

2010
EUR’000

(2,675)

13

2009
EUR’000
2,206
(1,102)

_______________

1,104

_______________

396
(61)

_______________

335

_______________

416

_______________

1,855

_______________

(2,834)
(3,321)
(463)
(94)

_______________

(6,712)

_______________

(4,857)
(367)

_______________

(5,224)
1,694

_______________

(3,530)

_______________

(3,530)

________________

_______________

EUR

EUR

(10.7c)

________________

(14.1c)

_______________

The accounting policies and explanatory notes on pages 21 to 68 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
as at 31 December 2010
Notes
ASSETS
Cash and balances with Central Bank of Malta
Cheques in course of collection
Financial assets held-for-trading
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Property and equipment
Intangible assets
Derivative financial instruments
Prepayments and accrued income
Deferred tax asset
Other assets

14
15
16
17
18
19
21
22
20

6,607
1,737
4,179
276,543
155,764
5,470
620
314
1,768
5,283
356

5,051
2,255
6,766
84,887
59,487
5,781
442
895
728
3,905
169

458,641

23
24
21
25
26

TOTAL LIABILITIES
EQUITY
Issued capital
Retained earnings

2009
EUR’000

_______________

TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES
Amounts owed to banks
Amounts owed to customers
Derivative financial instruments
Other liabilities
Accruals and deferred income

2010
EUR’000

_______________

6,000
433,679
216
2,332
2,002

3,835
146,066
878
1,604
896

_______________

444,229

TOTAL EQUITY

25,000
(10,588)

_______________

14,412

_______________

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

170,366

_______________

_______________

27
28

_______________

458,641

_______________

_______________

153,279

_______________

25,000
(7,913)

_______________

17,087

_______________

170,366

_______________

Memorandum items

Contingent liabilities

32

Commitments

32

5,159

_______________

63,254

_______________

2,902

_______________

37,250

_______________

The accounting policies and explanatory notes on pages 21 to 68 form an integral part of the financial statements.
The financial statements on pages 16 to 68 were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 29 April 2011and
signed on its behalf by:

JOSEPH SAMMUT
Chairman

JOAQUIM F. DA SILVA PINTO
Chief Executive Officer
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Issued
capital
EUR’000
At 1 January 2009

15,000

Increase in issued share capital

10,000

Total comprehensive income
Balance at 31 December 2009

At 1 January 2010
Total comprehensive income
Balance at 31 December 2010

Retained
earnings
EUR’000
(4,383)
-

Total
EUR’000
10,617
10,000

-

(3,530)

(3,530)

25,000

(7,913)

(17,087)

25,000

(7,913)

17,087

-

(2,675)

(2,675)

25,000

(10,588)

(14,412)

___________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________

The accounting policies and explanatory notes on pages 21 to 68 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
2010
EUR’000
Operating activities
Interest received
Fees and commission received
Interest paid
Fees and commission paid
Proceeds from trading activities
Payments to employees and suppliers
Operating loss before changes in operating assets/liabilities

5,836
1,022
(2,351)
(216)
1,015
(7,868)

________________

2009
EUR’000
2,033
396
(828)
(61)
275
(6,557)

_______________

(2,562)

(4,742)

(Increase)/decrease in operating assets
Reserve deposit with Central Bank of Malta
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Financial assets held-for-trading
Other receivables

(1,496)
15,181
(96,947)
2,499
315

(3,213)
(6,063)
(48,409)
(6,640)
(2,244)

Increase in operating liabilities
Amounts owed to customers
Other payables

287,613
700

124,450
578

Operating profit after changes in operating assets/liabilities
Income tax paid
Net cash flows from operating activities
Investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment and
intangible assets
Net cash flows used in investing activities

________________

_______________

205,303

53,717

(2)

________________

205,301

________________

(569)

________________

(569)

________________

(7)

_______________

53,710

_______________

(2,639)

_______________

(2,639)

_______________
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS - continued
2010
EUR’000
Financing activities
Proceeds from increase in paid up value of issued share capital
Net cash flows from financing activities

-

________________

-

2009
EUR’000
10,000

_______________

10,000

________________

_______________

Increase in cash and cash equivalents

204,732

61,071

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash
equivalents
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

1,045
203,687

(7)
61,078

Increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year (note 30)

________________

_______________

204,732

61,071

67,188

________________

271,920

________________

6,117

_______________

67,188

_______________

The accounting policies and explanatory notes on pages 21 to 68 form an integral part of the financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1.

CORPORATE INFORMATION
Banif Bank (Malta) plc (“the Bank”) is a public limited liability company domiciled and incorporated in
Malta. The company was incorporated on 27 March 2007. It started operating as a fully-fledged retail bank
during January 2008.

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

2.1

Statement of compliance
The financial statements have been prepared and presented in accordance with the provisions of the
Banking Act, Cap. 371 and the Companies Act, Cap. 386 (the “Act”) of the Laws of Malta, which requires
adherence to International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union.
The Act specifies that in the event that any one of its provisions is in conflict or not compatible with IFRSs
and their interpretation as adopted by the European Union or its application is incompatible with the
obligation for the financial statements to give a true and fair view, that provision shall be departed from in
order to give a true and fair view. The Bank has not departed from any IFRS provisions as adopted by the
European Union.

2.2

Basis of measurement
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis except for the following:
•
derivative financial instruments are measured at fair value; and
•
financial assets held-for-trading are measured at fair value.

2.3

Functional and presentation currency
The financial statements are presented in Euro (EUR), which currency represents the functional currency of
the Bank. All values are rounded to the nearest EUR thousand.

2.4

Use of estimates and judgements
In preparing the financial statements, management is required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions that affect reported income, expenses, assets, liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities. Use of available information and application of judgement are inherent in the formation of
estimates. Actual results in the future could differ from such estimates and the differences may be material
to the financial statements. These estimates are reviewed on a regular basis and if a change is needed, it is
accounted in the period the changes become known.
In the opinion of the management, the accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements made in the
course of preparing these financial statements are not difficult, subjective or complex to a degree which
would warrant their description as critical in terms of the requirements of IAS 1 (revised)-‘Presentation of
financial statements’, except as disclosed below.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION - continued

2.4

Use of estimates and judgements - continued
The most significant uses of judgement and estimates are as follows:
Going concern
The Bank’s management has made an assessment of the Bank’s ability to continue as a going concern and
is satisfied that the Bank has the resources to continue in business for the foreseeable future. Furthermore,
the management is not aware of any material uncertainties that may cast significant doubt upon the Bank’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Therefore, the financial statements continue to be prepared on the
going concern basis.
Fair value of financial instruments
Where the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded on the statement of financial
position cannot be derived from active markets, it is determined using a variety of valuation techniques that
include the use of mathematical models. The inputs to these models are derived from observable market
data where possible, but where observable market data are not available, judgement is required to establish
fair values. The judgements include considerations of liquidity and model inputs such as volatility for
longer dated derivatives and discount rates, prepayment rates and default rate assumptions for asset backed
securities. The valuation of financial instruments is described in more detail in Note 33.
Impairment losses on loans and advances
The Bank reviews its individually significant loans and advances at each reporting date to assess whether
an impairment loss should be recorded in the statement of comprehensive income. In particular, judgement
by management is required in the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows when
determining the impairment loss. In estimating these cash flows, the Bank makes judgements about the
borrower’s financial situation and the net realisable value of the collateral. These estimates are based on
assumptions about a number of factors and actual results may differ, resulting in future changes to the
allowance.
Loans and advances, that have been assessed individually and found not to be impaired and all individually
insignificant loans and advances are then assessed collectively, in groups of assets with similar risk
characteristics, to determine whether provision should be made due to incurred loss events for which there
is objective evidence but whose effects are not yet evident. The collective assessment takes account of data
from the loan portfolio (such as credit quality, level of arrears, credit utilisation, loan to collateral ratios
etc.), concentrations of risks and economic data (including levels of unemployment, real estate prices
indices, country risk and the performance of different individual groups).
The impairment loss on loans and advances is disclosed in more detail in Note 11 and Note 17.
Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets are recognised in respect of tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the losses can be utilised. Judgement is required to determine the amount of
deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable profits,
together with future tax planning strategies.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION - continued

2.5

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards as endorsed by the European
Union effective in the current year
The Bank has adopted the following new and amended IFRS and IFRIC interpretations:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

IFRS 1, ‘First time adoption of IFRS’ revised effective 1 July 2009
IFRS 1 (Amendments) – Additional Exemptions for First-time Adopters effective 1 January 2010
IFRS 2 (Amendments) – Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment Transactions effective 1 January
2010
IFRS 3, ‘Business Combinations’ revised and IAS 27, ‘Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements’ amended effective 1 July 2009
IAS 27 (Amendments) Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements effective 1 July 2009
IAS 28 (Amendments) Investment in Associates effective 1 July 2009
IAS 31 (Amendments) Interest in Joint Ventures effective 1 July 2009
IAS 39 (Amendments) Financial Instruments : Recognition and Measurement Eligible Hedged Items
effective 1 July 2009
IFRIC 9 (Amendments) and IAS 39, ‘Embedded Derivatives’ effective 1 July 2009
IFRIC 17 Distributions of Non-Cash to Owners effective 1 July 2009
IFRIC 18 Transfer of Assets from Customers effective 1 July 2009
Improvements to IFRSs issued in April 2009

The adoption of the standards or interpretations above did not have an impact on the financial statements or
performance of the Bank.
2.6

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards as adopted by the European
Union that are not yet effective
Up to the date of approval of these financial statements, certain new standards, amendments and
interpretations to existing standards have been published but are not yet effective for the current reporting
period and which have not been adopted early. None of these standards, interpretations and amendments
are expected to have an impact on the financial position or performance of the Bank. These are as follows:
•

•

•

IFRS 1 – First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards, Limited Exemption from
Comparative IFRS7 Disclosures for First time Adopters, effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 July 2010. This is not relevant to the Bank.
IAS 24 – Related party disclosures amendments. The amended standard is effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2011. It clarified the definition of a related party to simplify the
identification of such relationships and to eliminate inconsistencies in its application. The revised
standard introduces a partial exemption of disclosure requirements for government-related entities. The
Bank does not expect any impact on its financial position or performance. Early adoption is permitted
for either the partial exemption for government-related entities or for the entire standard.
IFRIC 14 – IAS 19 – The limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum Funding Requirements and their
Interaction, Amendments with respect to voluntary prepaid contributions. The amendment to IFRIC 14
is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011 with retrospective application. The
amendment provides guidance on assessing the recoverable amount of a net pension asset. The
amendment permits an entity to treat the prepayment of a minimum funding requirement as an asset.
The amendment is expected to have no impact on the financial statements of the Bank.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION - continued

2.6

Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards as adopted by the European
Union that are not yet effective - continued
•

•

2.7

Standards, interpretations and amendments that are not yet adopted by the European Union
•

•
•
•
3.

IFRIC 19 – Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments. IFRIC 19 is effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010. The interpretation clarifies that equity instruments
issued to a creditor to extinguish a financial liability qualify as consideration paid. The equity
instruments issued are measured at their fair value. In case this cannot be reliably measured, they are
measured at the fair value of the liability extinguished. Any gain or loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss. The adoption of this interpretation will have no effect on the financial statements of the
Bank.
Third omnibus improvement to IFRS issued by IASB in May 2010. The amendments have not been
adopted as they become effective for annual periods on or after either 1 July 2010 or 1 January 2011.
The amendments are listed below.
o
IFRS 3 Business Combinations
o
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
o
IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
o
IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
o
IFRIC 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes
The Bank, however, expects no impact from the adoption of the amendments on its financial position
or performance.

IFRS 1 – First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards, Amendments – Severe
Hyperinflation and Removal of fixed Dates for first-time Adopters, effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 July 2011.
IFRS 7 – Financial Instruments: Disclosures, Amendment – Transfer of Financial Assets, effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011.
IAS 12 – Income Taxes, Amendment – Tax Recovery of Underlying Assets, effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012.
IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement, effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2013.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Bank and
the revenue can be reliably measured. The following specific recognition criteria must also be met before
revenue is recognised:
Interest income and expense
Interest income and expense are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income using the effective
interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
payments and receipts through the expected life of the financial asset or liability (or, where appropriate, a
shorter period) to the carrying amount of the financial asset or liability. The effective interest rate is
established on initial recognition of the financial asset and liability and is not revised subsequently.
The calculation of the effective interest rate includes all fees paid or received, transaction costs, and
discounts or premiums that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs are
incremental costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition, issue or disposal of a financial asset or
liability.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued
Revenue recognition - continued
Fee and commission income
Fee and commission income is accounted for in the period when receivable, except where such income is
charged to cover the cost of a continuing service to, or risk borne for, the customer, or is interest in nature.
In these cases, such income is recognised on an appropriate basis over the relevant period.
Dividend income
Revenue is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.
Net trading income
Results arising from trading activities include all gains and losses from changes in fair value and related
interest income or expense and dividends for financial assets and financial liabilities ‘held-for-trading’.
Leasing
The determination of whether an arrangement is a lease, or it contains a lease, is based on the substance of
the arrangement and requires an assessment of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on
the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset.
Bank as a lessee
Leases which do not transfer to the Bank substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of
the leased items are operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense in the
statement of comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Contingent rents
payable are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.
Foreign currency translation
These financial statements are presented in Euro, which is the Bank’s functional and presentation currency.
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency rate ruling at the date of
the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the reporting date, whereas non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the
dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.
Gains and losses arising from such foreign exchange translations are taken to profit or loss, except for gains
and losses resulting from the translation of available-for-sale non-monetary assets, which are recognised in
equity.
Financial instruments
Financial assets in the scope of IAS 39 are classified as either financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss, held-for-trading, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments, or available-for-sale financial
assets, as appropriate. When financial assets or financial liabilities are recognised initially, they are
measured at fair value, plus, in the case of financial assets or financial liabilities not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial assets
or financial liabilities. The Bank determines the classification of its financial assets after initial recognition
and, where allowed and appropriate, re-evaluates this designation at each financial period-end.
All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, which is the date
that the Bank commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation
orconvention in the market place.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued
Financial instruments - continued
Derivatives recorded at fair value through profit or loss
The Bank uses derivatives such as cross currency swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts.
Derivatives are recorded at fair value and carried as assets when their fair value is positive and as liabilities
when their fair value is negative. Changes in the fair value of derivatives are included in ‘Net trading
income’.
Financial assets and financial liabilities held-for-trading
Financial assets or financial liabilities held-for-trading, comprising financial instruments held-for-trading
other than derivatives, are recorded in the statement of financial position at fair value. Changes in fair value
are recognised in profit or loss. Interest and dividend income or expenses are recorded in income according
to the terms of the contract, or when the right to the payment has been established.
Included in this classification are debt securities, equities and short positions in debt securities and
securities which have been acquired principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term.
Financial assets and financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets and financial liabilities classified in this category are those that have been designated by
management on initial recognition.
Financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recorded in the statement of
financial position at fair value. Changes in fair value are recognised in profit or loss. Interest earned or
incurred is accrued in interest income or expense, respectively, according to the terms of the contract.
The Bank did not include any assets in this category during 2010 and 2009.
Held-to-maturity financial investments
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity are classified as
held-to-maturity when the Bank has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity. Investments
intended to be held for an undefined period are not included in this classification. Other long-term
investments that are intended to be held-to-maturity, such as bonds, are subsequently measured at amortised
cost. This cost is computed as the amount initially recognised minus principal repayments, plus or minus
the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between the initially
recognised amount and the maturity amount. This calculation includes all fees and points paid or received
between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and all
other premiums and discounts. For investments carried at amortised cost, gains and losses are recognised in
income when the investments are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process.
The Bank did not include any assets in this category during 2010 and 2009.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued
Financial instruments - continued
Loans and advances to banks and to customers
‘Loans and advances to banks’ and ‘Loans and advances to customers’ are non-derivative financial assets
with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities that are not quoted in an active market. They are
not entered into with the intention of immediate or short-term resale and are not classified as ‘Financial
assets held-for-trading’, designated as ‘Financial investment – available-for-sale’ or ‘Financial assets
designated at fair value through profit or loss’.
After initial measurement, loans and advances to banks and to customers are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees and costs that are an
integral part of the effective interest rate. The amortisation is included in ‘Interest receivable and similar
income’ in the statement of comprehensive income. The losses arising from impairment are recognised in
‘Net impairment losses’.
Available-for-sale financial investments
Available-for-sale financial investments include equity and debt securities. Equity investments classified as
‘Available-for-sale’ are those which are neither classified as ‘Held-for-trading’ nor ‘Designated at fair value
through profit or loss’. Debt securities in this category are those which are intended to be held for an
indefinite period of time and which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or in response to changes
in the market conditions.
After initial recognition, available-for sale financial assets are measured at fair value with gains or losses
being recognised directly in equity (other comprehensive income) in the ‘Available-for-sale reserve’. When
the investment is disposed of, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity is recognised in
the statement of comprehensive income in ‘Other operating income’. Where the Bank holds more than one
investment in the same security they are deemed to be disposed of on a first-in first-out basis. Interest
earned whilst holding available-for-sale financial investments is reported as interest income using the
effective interest rate. Dividends earned whilst holding available-for-sale financial investments are
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as ‘Other operating income’ when the right of the
payment has been established. The losses arising from impairment of such investments are recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income in ‘Impairment losses on financial investments’ and removed from the
‘Available-for-sale reserve’.
The Bank did not include any assets in this category during 2010 and 2009.
Reclassification of financial assets
Effective from 1 July 2008, the Bank was permitted to reclassify, in certain circumstances, non-derivative
financial assets out of the ‘Held-for-trading’ category and into the ‘Available-for-sale’, ‘Loans and
receivables’, or ‘Held-to-maturity’ categories. From this date it was also permitted to reclassify, in certain
circumstances, financial instruments out of the ‘Available-for-sale’ category and into the ‘Loans and
receivables’ category. Reclassifications are recorded at fair value at the date of reclassification, which
becomes the new amortised cost.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued
Financial instruments - continued
Reclassification of financial assets - continued
For a financial asset reclassified out of the ‘Available-for-sale’ category, any previous gain or loss on that
asset that has been recognised in equity is amortised to profit or loss over the remaining life of the
investment using the effective interest rate. Any difference between the new amortised cost and the
expected cash flows is also amortised over the remaining life of the asset using the effective interest rate. If
the asset is subsequently determined to be impaired then the amount recorded in equity is recycled to the
statement of comprehensive income.
The Bank may reclassify a non-derivative trading asset out of the ‘Held-for-trading’ category and into the
‘Loans and receivables’ category if it meets the definition of loans and receivables and the Bank has the
intention and ability to hold the financial asset for the foreseeable future or until maturity. If a financial
asset is reclassified, and if the Bank subsequently increases its estimates of future cash receipts as a result
of increased recoverability of those cash receipts, the effect of that increase is recognised as an adjustment
to the effective interest rate from the date of the change in estimate.
Reclassification is at the election of management, and is determined on an instrument by instrument basis.
The Bank does not reclassify any financial instrument into the fair value through profit or loss category
after initial recognition.
The Bank did not reclassify any of its assets during 2010 and 2009.
Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities
Financial assets
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is derecognised where:
•
•
•

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or
the Bank has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset, or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’
arrangement; and
either (a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control
of the asset.

When the Bank has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a passthrough arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Bank’s continuing
involvement in the asset.
Financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or
expires. Where an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and
the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued
Determination of fair value
The fair value for financial instruments traded in active markets at the reporting date is based on their
quoted market price or dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price for short
positions), without any deduction for transaction costs.
For all other financial instruments not traded in an active market, the fair value is determined by using
appropriate valuation techniques. Valuation techniques include the discounted cash flow method,
comparison to similar instruments for which market observable prices exist, options pricing models, credit
models and other relevant valuation models.
Certain financial instruments are recorded at fair value using valuation techniques in which current market
transactions or observable market data are not available. Their fair value is determined using a valuation
model that has been tested against prices or inputs to actual market transactions and using the Bank’s best
estimate of the most appropriate model assumptions. Models are adjusted to reflect the spread for bid and
ask prices to reflect costs to close out positions, counterparty credit and liquidity spread and limitations in
the models. Also, profit or loss calculated when such financial instruments are first recorded is deferred and
recognised only when the inputs become observable or on derecognition of the instrument.
An analysis of fair values of financial instruments and further details as to how they are measured are
provided in Note 33.
Impairment of financial assets
The Bank assesses at each reporting date whether there is evidence that a financial asset or group of
financial assets is impaired. Financial assets are impaired when objective evidence demonstrates that a loss
event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss event has an impact on the
future cash flows on the asset that can be estimated reliably.
The Bank considers evidence of impairment at both a specific asset and collective level. All individually
significant financial assets are assessed for specific impairment. All significant assets found not to be
specifically impaired are then collectively assessed for any impairment that has been incurred but not yet
identified. Assets that are not individually significant are collectively assessed for impairment by bringing
together financial assets (carried at amortised cost) with similar risk characteristics.
Loans and advances to banks and to customers
For the purpose of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the basis of the
Bank’s internal credit grading system that considers credit risk characteristics such as asset type, industry,
geographical location, collateral type, past-due status and other relevant factors.
Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include default or delinquency by a borrower,
restructuring of a loan or advance by the Bank on terms that the Bank would not otherwise consider,
indications that a borrower or issuer will enter bankruptcy, the disappearance of an active market for a
security, or other observable data relating to a group of assets such as adverse changes in the payment status
of borrowers or issuers in the Bank, or economic conditions that correlate with defaults in the Bank.
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3.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued
Impairment of financial assets - continued
Loans and advances to banks and to customers - continued
For loans and advances to banks and loans and advances to customers carried at amortised cost, the amount
of the loss is measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the financial assets and the present
value of estimated cash flows discounted at the assets’ original effective interest rate. If a loan has a
variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest
rate. The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of a collateralised loan reflects
the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or
not foreclosure is probable. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance
account and the amount of the loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. Interest income
continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount based on the original effective interest rate of the
asset. Loans together with the associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect of
future recovery and all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the Bank.
If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or decreases because of an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is
increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a future write-off is later recovered, the
recovery is credited to the ‘Net impairment losses’.
Renegotiated and rescheduled loans
Where possible, the Bank seeks to restructure loans rather than to take possession of collateral. This may
involve extending the payment arrangements and the agreement on new loan conditions. Once the terms
have been renegotiated any impairment is measured using the original effective interest rate as calculated
before the modification of terms and the loan is no longer considered past due. Management continually
reviews renegotiated loans to ensure that all criteria are met and that future payments are likely to occur.
The loans continue to be subject to an individual or collective impairment assessment, calculated using the
loan’s original effective interest rate.
Property and equipment
All property and equipment is stated at cost (excluding the costs of day-to-day servicing), less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment. Changes in the expected useful life are accounted for by
changing the depreciation period or method, as appropriate, and treated as changes in accounting estimates.
Depreciation is calculated on the straight line basis so as to write off the cost of each asset to its residual
value over its estimated useful economic life. The estimated useful lives are as follows:
Land and buildings:
Freehold
Leasehold
Computer equipment
Other equipment

20 years
10 years
4 years
6 - 10 years

Property and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit and loss in the
period the asset is derecognised. The asset’s residual value, useful life and method is reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each financial period end.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued
Intangible assets
Intangible assets consist of computer software and other intangibles which include licenses. Intangible
assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial recognition,
intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite.
Intangible assets with finite lives are amortised over the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life is reviewed at least at each financial
period end. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic
benefits embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing the amortisation period or method, as
appropriate, and treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortisation expense on intangible assets
with finite lives is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in the expense category consistent
with the function of the intangible asset.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to write down the cost of intangible assets to their
residual values over their estimated useful lives. Computer software is amortised over 4 years.
Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are not amortised, but are tested for impairment annually either
individually or at the cash generating unit level. The assessment of indefinite life is reviewed annually to
determine whether the indefinite life continues to be supportable. If not, the change in useful life from
indefinite to finite is made on a prospective basis. Other intangibles are assessed as having an indefinite
useful life.
A summary of the policies applied to the Bank’s intangible assets is as follows:

Useful lives
Amortisation method used

Computer Software
Finite
Amortised on a straight
line basis

Other intangibles
Indefinite
No Amortisation

Impairment of non-financial assets
The Bank assesses at each reporting date or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying value may be impaired. If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing
for an asset is required, the Bank makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. Where the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to
its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in
those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.
For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any
indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed
only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the
last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the case the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its
recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such
reversal is recognised in profit or loss. After such a reversal the depreciation charge is adjusted in future
periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a systematic basis over
its remaining useful life.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued
Taxation
Current income tax
Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to
compute the amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting date. Current
income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in profit or loss.
Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method on temporary differences at the reporting date
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:
•
where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or of an asset or
a liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and
•
in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused
tax credits and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax
losses can be utilised except:
•
where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and
•
in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates
and interests in joint ventures, deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.
The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred income tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each
reporting date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will
allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the
period when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Deferred income tax relating to items recognised
directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in profit or loss.
Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists
to set off current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes relate to the
same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.
Retirement benefit costs
The Bank contributes towards the Government pension defined contribution plan in accordance with local
legislation and to which it has no commitment beyond the payment of fixed contributions. These
obligations are recognised as an expense in the statement of comprehensive income as they accrue. The
Bank does not contribute towards any other retirement benefit plans.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - continued
Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise:
(i)

cash in hand and deposits repayable on call or short notice or with a contractual period to maturity of
less than three months, with any bank or financial institution;

(ii)

short-term highly liquid investments which are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
without notice, subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and with a contractual period of
maturity of less than three months; and

(iii) advances to/from banks repayable within three months from the date of the advance.
Financial guarantees
In the ordinary course of business, the Bank gives financial guarantees, consisting of letters of credit,
guarantees and acceptances. Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the financial statements at fair
value, being the premium received. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Bank’s liability under each
guarantee is measured at the higher of the amortised premium and the best estimate of expenditure required
to settle any financial obligation arising as a result of the financial guarantee.
The premium received is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in ‘Fees and commission
income’ on a straight line basis over the life of the guarantee.
4.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
The segment reporting of the Bank is made in terms of the business segments which it conducts its business
in, as the risks and rates of return are affected predominantly by differences in the products and services
produced. The Bank is currently organised into three main business segments:
Retail banking
Corporate banking
Other

– Principally handling customers’ deposits, providing consumer loans,
overdrafts and funds transfer facilities.
– Principally handling loans and other credit facilities and deposit and current
accounts for corporate and institutional customers.
– Principally treasury and other central functions.

Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making
decisions about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based
on operating profit or loss. Income taxes are managed on a group basis and are not allocated to operating
segments.
Interest income is reported net as management primarily relies on net interest revenue as a performance
measure, not the gross income or expense.
Other than revenue generated from business carried out with the Banif SA, no revenue from transactions
with a single external customer or counterparty amounted to 10% or more of the Bank’s total revenue in
2010 or 2009. This is included with the ‘Other’ business segment in the tables below and a detailed analysis
of all the balances held and income earned is included in Note 31 dealing with Related Party Disclosures.
No reconciliation is required since there are no differences between the measurements of the reportable
segments’ profits or losses, assets and liabilities and the entity’s profit or loss, assets and liabilities.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued
The following tables present income, profit and certain asset and liability information regarding the Bank’s
business segments for the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2009:

External operating income
Net interest income
Net fee and commission income
Net trading income
Total operating income
Net impairment losses
Net operating income
Personnel expenses
Other administrative expenses
Depreciation of property and
equipment
Amortisation of
intangible assets
Segment result

Retail
Banking
2010
EUR’000

Corporate
Banking
2010
EUR’000

Other
2010
EUR’000

Total
2010
EUR’000

650
248
-

1,403
333
-

1,258
225
1,009

3,311
806
1,009

898
(437)

1,736
(233)

2,492
-

5,126
(670)

461

1,503

2,492

4,456

(2,040)
(1,661)

(1,010)
(1,234)

(662)
(1,287)

(3,712)
(4,182)

(299)

(109)

(77)

(485)

(44)

(42)

(42)

(128)

(3,583)

(892)

424

__________________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________

Income tax credit

1,376

____________

Loss for the year

Assets and liabilities
Segment assets
Unallocated assets

(2,675)

____________

99,185

64,552

287,904

Total liabilities

451,641
7,000

____________

Total assets

Segment liabilities
Unallocated liabilities

(4,051)

458,641

____________

134,952

172,911

135,316

443,179
1,050

____________

444,229

____________
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SEGMENT INFORMATION - continued

External operating income
Net interest income
Net fee and commission income
Net trading income
Total operating income
Net impairment losses
Net operating income
Personnel expenses
Other administrative expenses
Depreciation of property and
equipment
Amortisation of
intangible assets
Segment result

Retail
Banking
2009
EUR’000

Corporate
Banking
2009
EUR’000

Other
2009
EUR’000

Total
2009
EUR’000

289
132
-

390
130
-

425
73
416

1,104
335
416

421
(222)

520
(145)

914
-

1,855
(367)

199

375

914

1,488

__________________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________________

(1,467)
(1,292)

(816)
(1,000)

(551)
(1,029)

(2,834)
(3,321)

(282)

(106)

(75)

(463)

(34)

(30)

(30)

(94)

(2,876)

(1,577)

(771)

(5,224)

__________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________

Income tax credit

1,694

____________

Loss for the year

Assets and liabilities
Segment assets
Unallocated assets

(3,530)

____________

41,341

24,369

99,520

____________

Total assets

Segment liabilities
Unallocated liabilities
Total liabilities

165,230
5,136
170,366

____________

71,036

75,499

5,688

152,223
1,056

____________

153,279

____________

There was no other segmental information of relevance to report as at end of financial year ended
31 December 2010. Geographical segmentation information is not appropriate due to the limited size of the
market.
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5.

INTEREST RECEIVABLE AND SIMILAR INCOME

On loans and advances to banks (note i)
On loans and advances to customers (note ii)
On balances with Central Bank of Malta
Other

2010
EUR’000

2009
EUR’000

1,639
5,077
42
2

674
1,525
6
1

_______________

6,760

_______________

i.
ii.

6.

2,206

_______________

The income earned from loans and advances to banks is almost entirely made up of interest earned
on balances and placements held with banks in Banif Group.
Interest income on loans and advances to customers includes that generated from impaired financial
assets which amounted to EUR214,039 (2009 – EUR13,926).

INTEREST PAYABLE AND SIMILAR EXPENSE

On amounts owed to banks
On amounts owed to customers
On repurchase agreements

2010
EUR’000

2009
EUR’000

41
3,408
-

77
1,020
5

_______________

3,449

7.

_______________

_______________

1,102

_______________

_______________

2010
EUR’000

2009
EUR’000

572
234

262
73

NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME

Credit related fees and commissions
Other fees

________________

806

________________

_______________

335

_______________
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NET TRADING INCOME

Debt securities
- Interest
- Realised (losses) / gains on sale
- Unrealised fair value gains

2010
EUR’000

2009
EUR’000

474
(22)
207

130
31
130

________________

659

Foreign exchange
- From derivatives
- From other activities

291

________________

_______________

82
268

17
108

________________

350

________________

Net trading income

_______________

1,009

________________

_______________

125

_______________

416

_______________

‘Debt securities’ income includes the results of buying and selling, changes in the fair value and the related
interest income and expense of debt securities.
‘Foreign exchange income from derivatives’ includes gains and losses from spot and forward contracts and
other currency derivatives.
‘Foreign exchange income from other activities’ includes gains from foreign exchange in retail trade as
well as from foreign exchange transactions carried through debit and credit cards.
9.

PERSONNEL EXPENSES
2010
EUR’000
Directors’ remuneration
Wages and salaries
- executive officers and senior managerial
- other managerial, supervisory and clerical
- others
Social security costs
- executive officers and senior managerial
- other managerial, supervisory and clerical
- others

382

337

________________

_______________

1,387
1,690
67

1,124
1,176
60

55
125
6

45
87
5

________________

3,330

________________

Total personnel expenses

2009
EUR’000

3,712

________________

_______________

2,497

_______________

2,834

_______________
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PERSONNEL EXPENSES - continued
The average number of persons employed by the Bank during the years 2010 and 2009 was as follows:

Executive officers and senior managerial
Other managerial, supervisory and clerical
Others

2010
Number of
employees

2009
Number of
employees

34
80
4

31
57
4

________________

118

10.

92

________________

_______________

2010
EUR’000

2009
EUR’000

53
184
199
1,071
1,013
127
78
1,457

33
151
266
1,078
632
89
1,072

OTHER ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Auditors' remuneration
Professional fees
Travelling and accommodation
Insurance and computer licences
Marketing expenses
Rent payable
Cash contribution – Depositor Compensation Scheme (note i)
Others

________________

4,182

________________

i.

11.

_______________

_______________

3,321

_______________

In terms of Legal Notice 109 of 2010 amending the Depositor Compensation Scheme Regulations
of 2003, the Bank paid a cash contribution to the Depositor Compensation Scheme of EUR77,552,
representing 0.1% of eligible deposits as at end of December 2009. In terms of said Regulations,
the Bank is obliged to pay additional cash contributions to the Scheme in line with increases in
eligible deposits as at end of December of each year by 1st of March of the following year. The
cash contribution to be paid in 2011 amounts to EUR74,192.

NET IMPAIRMENT LOSSES

Write-downs
Loans and advances to customers
- Collective impairment
- Individual impairment

2010
EUR’000

2009
EUR’000

407
263

172
195

________________

670

________________

_______________

367

_______________
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INCOME TAX CREDIT
The components of income tax for the years ended 31 December 2010 and 2009 are:
2010
EUR’000
Statement of Comprehensive Income:
Current income tax
Deferred income tax

(2)
1,378

________________

1,376

________________

2009
EUR’000
(7)
1,701

_______________

1,694

_______________

The tax on loss on ordinary activities and the result of accounting loss multiplied by the applicable tax rate
in Malta of 35% are reconciled as follows:
2010
EUR’000
Loss before tax

(4,051)

________________

Tax at the applicable rate of 35%
Tax effect of:
- non-recoverable foreign withholding tax
- non-deductible expenses

(1,418)
2
40

________________

Income tax credit

13.

(1,376)

________________

2009
EUR’000
(5,224)

_______________

(1,828)
7
127

_______________

(1,694)

_______________

LOSS PER SHARE
Basic loss per share amounts are calculated by dividing net loss attributable to the shareholders of the Bank
as shown in the statement of comprehensive income divided by the weighted average number of shares
outstanding during the year.
2010
EUR’000
Net loss attributable to shareholders

(2,675)

2009
EUR’000
(3,530)

________________

_______________

31 December 2010
000s

31 December 2009
000s

Weighted average number of shares*

25,000

________________

25,000

_______________

* No new shares were issued during the year (refer to note 27).
Between the reporting date and the date of completion of these financial statements, there has been a
transaction involving potential ordinary shares as referred to in Note 29, which would require the
restatement of loss per share.
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14.

CASH AND BALANCES WITH CENTRAL BANK OF MALTA

Balances with Central Bank of Malta
Cash

2010
EUR’000

2009
EUR’000

4,513
2,094

3,670
1,381

_______________

6,607

_______________

_______________

5,051

_______________

The average balance of the reserve deposit required at year end in terms of Article 37 of the Central Bank
of Malta Act, Cap. 204 of the Laws of Malta with the Central Bank of Malta was of EUR4,947,870 (2009 –
EUR3,452,254).
The Balances with Central Bank of Malta also include an amount of EUR207,839 which is pledged in
favour of the Depositor Compensation Scheme in terms of the Depositor Compensation Scheme
Regulations of 2003 as amended by Legal Notice 227 of 209 and Legal Notice 109 of 2010. Apart from
this, included with “Other assets”, there is an amount of EUR311,759, which was placed directly with the
Depositor Compensation Scheme. The said Regulations allow the Bank to opt for such a deposit to be
made instead of pledging admissable assets in favour of the Scheme.

15.

FINANCIAL ASSETS HELD-FOR-TRADING

Government debt securities
Debt securities issued by banks
Other corporate debt securities

2010
EUR’000

2009
EUR’000

1,616
2,563

503
1,070
5,193

_______________

4,179

Amounts include variable income debt securities issued by:
- Banif SGPS, SA
- a related company

6,766

_______________

_______________

897
-

611
2,841

_______________

897

Status:
- listed on Malta Stock Exchange
- issued in other EU countries

_______________

_______________

3,452

_______________

_______________

3,282
897

3,314
3,452

_______________

4,179

_______________

_______________

6,766

_______________
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LOANS AND ADVANCES TO BANKS

Repayable on call and at short notice
Placements

2010
EUR’000

2009
EUR’000

213,208
63,335

8,044
76,843

_______________

276,543

_______________

Amounts include:
- Due from banks within Banif Group

17.

276,325

_______________

84,887

_______________

84,729

_______________

_______________

2010
EUR’000

2009
EUR’000

40,999
115,951

15,796
44,207

LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS

Repayable on call and at short notice
Term loans and advances
Gross loans and advances to customers
(Less) allowance for impairment losses
Net loans and advances to customers
Allowance for impairment losses
At 1 January
Charge for the year
- Individual impairment
- Collective impairment
At 31 December
Gross amount of loans individually determined to be
impaired, before deducting the individually assessed
impairment allowance

_______________

156,950
(1,186)

_______________

155,764

_______________

60,003
(516)

_______________

59,487

_______________

_______________

516

149

263
407

195
172

_______________

1,186

_______________

3,854

_______________

_______________

516

_______________

236

_______________
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18.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Cost :
At 1 January 2009
Additions
At 31 December 2009
Additions
Disposal
At 31 December 2010

Depreciation:
At 1 January 2009
Depreciation charge for the year
At 31 December 2009
Depreciation charge for the year
At 31 December 2010

Net book value:
At 31 December 2010
At 31 December 2009
At 1 January 2009

Land and
buildings
EUR’000

Computer
equipment
EUR’000

Other
equipment
EUR’000

Total
EUR’000

3,029
1,910

849
164

475
298

4,353
2,372

4,939
(1)

1,013
82
-

773
93
-

6,725
175
(1)

4,938

1,095

866

6,899

123
180

283
185

75
98

481
463

303
180

468
202

173
103

944
485

483

670

276

1,429

4,455

425

590

5,470

4,636

545

600

5,781

2,906

566

400

3,872

___________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________

Land and buildings include an amount of EUR2,061,695 (2009 – EUR2,059,525) relating to the cost of
acquisition of properties to serve as branches for the Bank’s retail business activities.
In the figures reported above, there is included an amount of EUR2,021 (2009 – EUR287,501) representing
cost of assets still not put to use as at year-end. Accordingly, no depreciation charge was taken on this
amount.
Future capital expenditure which was authorised by the Board but has to date not yet been contracted for
amounted to EUR3,250,865. Additionally an amount of EUR396,236 has been contracted for but not
provided for in the financial statements (Note 32).
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19.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Cost :
At 1 January 2009
Additions
At 31 December 2009
Additions
At 31 December 2010
Amortisation:
At 1 January 2009
Amortisation charge for the year
At 31 December 2009
Amortisation charge for the year
At 31 December 2010
Net book value:
At 31 December 2010
At 31 December 2009
At 1 January 2009

Computer
software
EUR’000

Other
intangibles
EUR’000

Total
EUR’000

413
91

109
-

522
91

504
306

109
-

613
306

810

109

919

77
94

-

77
94

171
128

-

171
128

299

-

299

511

109

620

333

109

442

336

109

445

____________________________________________________

____________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________

____________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________

Computer software includes EUR17,714 (2009 – EUR 126,660) worth of assets which are not put to use.
The amount of EUR108,500 disclosed under other intangibles represents an asset with an indefinite useful
life. This relates to the amount paid to VISA to be able to form part of the VISA network throughout the
period during which debit and credit cards are offered to clients of the Bank. In determining the useful life
of this asset the following factors were taken into consideration:
i.
ii.
iii.

The expected usage of the asset by the Bank in that the useful life of this asset is entirely tied to
the intention of the Bank to indefinitely continue offering VISA debit and credit cards to its
customers;
The stability of the business area in which the asset operates and changes in the market demand
for the service offered through this asset; and
The period of control over the asset and legal or similar limits of the use of this asset.

This is reviewed at each reporting period to assess whether events and circumstances still support an
indefinite useful life assessment.
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20.

DEFERRED TAX ASSET
The net deferred tax asset is entirely recognised in profit or loss.
2010
EUR’000
Deferred income tax asset/(liability) is attributable
to the following:
- excess of capital allowances over depreciation
- allowances for impairment
- unused tax losses

2009
EUR’000

(111)
415
4,979

________________

5,283

(37)
181
3,761

_______________

3,905

________________

_______________

Unused tax losses do not expire. Based on the Bank’s operating trends and forecasts, the deferred tax asset
is expected to be utilised from available taxable profits in the foreseeable future.
21.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
During the year, the Bank entered into a number of currency forward contracts with clients and an
equivalent number of back-to-back arrangements with Banif SA.
The forward contracts entered into are contractual agreements to buy or sell a currency at a specified rate
and date in the future. On the other hand, in the cross currency swaps entered into, the Bank carries out a
spot transaction paying a specified amount in one currency and receiving a specific amount in another
currency and agrees to do the inverse at a specified rate and date in the future.
The table below shows the fair values of derivative financial instruments, together with their notional
amounts. The notional amount, recorded gross, is the amount of a derivative’s underlying asset, reference
rate or index and is the basis upon which changes in the value of derivatives are measured. The notional
amounts indicate the volume of transactions outstanding at the year end and are indicative of neither the
market risk nor the credit risk.

Derivatives held-for-trading
Forward foreign exchange
Currency swaps

Assets
2010
EUR’000

Liabilities
2010
EUR’000

Notional
amount
2010
EUR’000

312
2

79
137

11,205
720

314

216

11,925

_______________________________________________
_______________________________________________

Liabilities
2009
EUR’000

Notional
amount
2009
EUR’000

71
824

878
-

27,064
26,937

895

878

54,001

Assets
2009
EUR’000

__________________________________________
__________________________________________
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22.

PREPAYMENTS AND ACCRUED INCOME

Prepayments
Other financial assets
Accrued income

2010
EUR’000

2009
EUR’000

456
537
775

208
134
386

________________

1,768

________________

Accrued income include:
- Due from banks within Banif Group

398

________________

_______________

728

_______________

182

_______________

‘Other financial assets’ relate to amounts pledged in favour of VISA. These funds are in turn held by VISA
in the Deutsche Global Liquidity Managed Euro – Advisory fund. Income generated from this investment is
paid to the Bank on a monthly basis.
23.

AMOUNTS OWED TO BANKS

Term deposits
Repayable on demand

2010
EUR’000

2009
EUR’000

6,000
-

3,701
134

________________

6,000

________________

_______________

3,835

_______________

The amounts owed to banks are entirely due to banks within the Banif Group.
24.

AMOUNTS OWED TO CUSTOMERS

Term deposits
Repayable on demand

2010
EUR’000

2009
EUR’000

192,566
241,113

126,018
20,048

________________

433,679

________________

_______________

146,066

_______________

Included in ‘Amounts owed to customers’ were deposits of EUR6.282 million (2009 – EUR1.657 million)
held as collateral for loan commitments and irrevocable commitments under guarantees and import letters
of credit.
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25.

OTHER LIABILITIES

Bills payable
Accounts payable and sundry creditors
Obligations under financial guarantees

2010
EUR’000

2009
EUR’000

1,423
664
245

897
648
59

_______________

2,332

_______________

_______________

1,604

_______________

The movement in ‘Obligations under financial guarantees’ is as follows:
2010
EUR’000
At 1 January
Arising during the year
Utilised
At 31 December

26.

59
236
(50)

_______________

245

2009
EUR’000
7
93
(41)

_______________

59

_______________

_______________

2010
EUR’000

2009
EUR’000

1,551
380
71

453
364
79

ACCRUALS AND DEFERRED INCOME

Accrued interest
Accrued operating expenditure (note i)
Accrued capital expenditure

_______________

2,002

_______________

Accrued interest includes:
- Due to banks within the Banif Group
i.

1

_______________

_______________

896

_______________

4

_______________

Accrued operating expenditure mainly includes professional fees, marketing expenses and day-today running expenses such as security and water and electricity.
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27.

ISSUED CAPITAL
2010
Shares of
EUR1 each
000s
Authorised
Ordinary shares
Issued and fully paid up
At 1 January
Proceeds from paid up capital
At 31 December

2010
EUR’000

50,000

2009
Shares of
EUR1 each
000s

50,000

50,000

2009
EUR’000
50,000

___________

___________

___________

___________

25,000
-

25,000
-

25,000
-

15,000
10,000

___________

25,000

___________

___________

___________

25,000

25,000

___________

___________

___________

25,000

___________

The issued ordinary shares rank pari passu for all purposes and, in the event that a poll is demanded, each
share entitles the holder thereof to one vote.
28.

RETAINED EARNINGS
Retained earnings represent accumulated losses registered since the incorporation of the company. The
majority of these losses are attributable to costs incurred in the setting up of the banking operations.

29.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
On 24 February 2011, the Bank issued EUR7.5 million convertible preference shares. These shares have a
nominal value of EUR1 per share and are convertible into ordinary shares only upon future fresh issues of
Ordinary Shares. The majority shareholder, Banif SGPS SA fully subscribed for these shares.

30.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Analysis of balances of cash and cash equivalents as shown in the statement of cash flows:
2010
EUR’000
Cash
Balances with Central Bank of Malta (excluding reserve deposit)
Loans and advances to banks
Amounts owed to banks
Cash and cash equivalents
Adjustment to reflect balances with
contractual maturity of more than three months
Per statement of financial position
Analysed as follows:
Cash and balances with Central Bank of Malta
(excluding reserve deposit)
Loans and advances to banks
Reserve deposit with Central Bank of Malta
Amounts owed to banks

2,094
(435)
276,261
(6,000)

2009
EUR’000
1,381
218
69,424
(3,835)

_______________

_______________

271,920

67,188

5,230

_______________

277,150

_______________

1,659
276,543
4,948
(6,000)

_______________

277,150

_______________

18,915

_______________

86,103

_______________

1,599
84,887
3,452
(3,835)

_______________

86,103

_______________
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31.

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
During the course of its business, the Bank conducted business on commercial terms with various related
parties.
The following table provides the total amount of transactions and balances, which have been entered into
with related parties for the relevant financial year:
2010
Related party
Related banks

Related company

Income
from
related
parties
EUR’000

Expenses
charged
by related
parties
EUR’000

Amounts
owed
by related
parties
EUR’000

Amounts
owed
to related
parties
EUR’000

1,639

-

276,325
390

-

-

39

-

6,000
-

-

-

897
3

137

-

-

8

-

-

-

3,500

-

438
-

-

-

9

8

7
-

-

1,241
4
-

-

-

148

-

133
138
27

-

-

11

-

38
-

-

583
9
76
-

-

37

-

1

-

25
-

2,124

392

281,964

Shareholders

Entities controlled by
non-executive Directors

Directors

Type of
transactions
Loan to banks
Interest receivable
Amounts owed
to banks
Interest payable
Financial asset
held-for-trading
Derivative asset
Interest receivable
from investment
with parent
Loans and adv.
to customers
Financial asset
held-for-trading
Trading income
Interest receivable
Amounts owed to
customers

Amounts owed
to customers
Interest payable
Interest receivable
Loans and advances
to customers

Professional fees
Rent
- Motor vehicle leases
Amounts owed
1,522
to customers
2
Interest payable
Loans and advances
to customers
Interest receivable
Prepaid expenses
8 Operating expenses
Amounts owed
to customers
Interest payable
Loans and advances
to customers
Interest receivable

1,144
16

____________________________________________________________

10,083

____________________________________________________________
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RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES - continued
2009
Related party
Related banks

Income
from
related
parties
EUR’000

Expenses
charged
by related
parties
EUR’000

Amounts
owed
by related
parties
EUR’000

Amounts
owed
to related
parties
EUR’000

674

-

84,729
182

-

-

76

-

3,835
4

-

-

611
861

-

-

-

3

-

140
-

-

2,841
5

-

2

-

827
-

-

106
89
27
49

-

-

19

-

32
-

-

597
9
-

Professional fees
Rent
- Motor vehicle leases
Accomodation
Amounts owed
535
to customers
2
Interest payable
Loans and advances
to customers
Interest receivable
39 Operating expenses

-

18

-

4

-

130
-

850

386

89,968

Related company

Directors

Loan to banks
Interest receivable
Amounts owed
to banks
Interest payable
Financial asset
held-for-trading
Derivative asset

Loans and advances
to customers
Financial asset
held-for-trading
Trading income
Interest receivable

Shareholders

Entities controlled by
non-executive Directors

Type of
transactions

Amounts owed
to customers
Interest payable

Amounts owed
to customers
Interest payable
Loans and advances
to customers
Interest receivable

1,021
5

____________________________________________________________

6,268

____________________________________________________________

The Bank also issued demand and bank guarantees on behalf of entities controlled by non-executive
Directors amounting to EUR1,527,067 that were all fully secured (2009 – EUR1,509,465).
Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties
The above mentioned outstanding balances arose from the ordinary course of business. The interest charged
to and by related parties is at normal commercial rates.
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RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES - continued
For the year ended 31 December 2010, the Bank has not made any specific provision for doubtful debts
relating to amounts owed by related parties.
Transactions with key management personnel of the Bank
During the year under review, the following banking transactions were carried out with key management
personnel.
Senior executive management
2010

Residential mortgages
Other personal lending

Customer deposits

Balance as at
31.12.10
EUR’000

Income
from key
management
EUR’000

444
68

7
3

Balance as at
31.12.10
EUR’000

Interest
paid to key
management
EUR’000

113

1

Balance as at
31.12.09
EUR’000

Income
from key
management
EUR’000

463
23

6
1

Balance as at
31.12.09
EUR’000

Interest
paid to key
management
EUR’000

194

1

2009

Residential mortgages
Other personal lending

Customer deposits

Directors’ remuneration and salaries to executive officers are separately disclosed in Note 9 to these
financial statements.
Terms and conditions of transactions with key management personnel
The above mentioned outstanding balances arose from the ordinary course of business on substantially the
same terms as for comparable transactions with persons of a similar standing, or where applicable, other
employees.
Immediate and ultimate parent
The immediate and ultimate parent of Banif Bank (Malta) plc is Banif SGPS, SA, a company registered in
Portugal, with its registered address at 30, Rua de Joao Tavira, 9004-509, Funchal, Madeira, Portugal.
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CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS
As part of its business activities, the Bank enters into various irrevocable commitments and contingent
liabilities. Letters of credit, guarantees (including standby letters of credit) commit the Bank to make
payments on behalf of customers in the event of a specific act, generally related to the import or export of
goods.
Commitments to extend credit represent contractual commitments to make loans and revolving credits.
Commitments generally have fixed expiry dates, or other termination clauses. Since commitments may
expire without being drawn upon, the total contract amounts do not necessarily represent future cash
requirements.
However, the potential credit loss is less than the total unused commitments since most commitments to
extend credit are contingent upon customers meeting specific conditions. The Bank monitors the term to
maturity of credit commitments because longer-term commitments generally have a greater degree of credit
risk than shorter-term commitments.
Even though these obligations are not recognised on the statement of financial position, they do contain
credit risk and are therefore part of the overall risk of the Bank.
The total outstanding commitments and contingent liabilities are as follows:

Contingent liabilities
Guarantees
Documentary credits

2010
EUR’000

2009
EUR’000

4,428
731

2,199
703

______________

5,159

______________

Commitments
Undrawn commitments to lend
Capital commitments (note 18)
Authorised but not contracted for
Contracted for

59,607

2,902

______________

35,754

______________

______________

3,251
396

1,161
335

______________

3,647

______________

Total commitments

______________

63,254

______________

______________

1,496

______________

37,250

______________
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32.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS - continued
Operating lease commitments - Bank as lessee
In 2008, the Bank has entered into three contracts of commercial leases for immovable property. Details of
the contracts are as follows:
i.
ii.

10 year commercial lease for immovable property which is cancellable by giving one year’s notice;
20-year term contract which is cancellable after the first 10 years of the contract by giving one year’s
notice; and
iii. 5-year term contract with the option to terminate upon the expiry of the first three years.
Prior to this, in 2007, the Bank also entered into a commercial lease for software licenses. This lease has
been terminated in 2010 and replaced by an arrangement to start acquiring additional licences that will
become necessary in batches of 20. Furthermore, under the new arrangement all licences leased up to end
of 2010 are converted into acquired leases. Existing and new licences are supported by an annual
maintenance contract.
In 2010, the Bank has also entered into two other lease contracts for immovable property, namely one for
15 years, with the right to terminate the lease after 5 years to be used for retail purposes, and another one
for 6 years to be used as an extension to the current Head Office premises.

	
  	
  
Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases as at 31 December are as follows:

Within one year
After one year but not more than five years
After more than five years

2010
EUR’000

2009
EUR’000

254
979
769

1,008
2,772
708

______________

2,002

______________

______________

4,488

______________

Legal claims
Litigation is a common occurrence in the banking industry due to the nature of the business. The Bank has
an established protocol for dealing with such legal claims. Once professional advice has been obtained and
the amount of damages reasonably estimated, the Bank makes adjustments to account for any adverse
effects which the claims may have on its financial standing. At year end, there were no significant
unresolved legal claims.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT
Financial risk management
The Bank’s main activities are subject to a combination of financial risks which are inherent in the business
of banking. Financial risks are managed by the Bank within statutory limits and within internal parameters
established by the Board of Directors.
Fair values
The reporting of fair values is intended to guide users as to the amount, timing and certainty of cash flows.
The amounts stated for cash balances, balances with the Central Bank of Malta and loans and advances to
banks are highly liquid assets. The Directors regard the amount shown in the statement of financial
position for these items as reflecting their fair value in that these assets will be realised for cash in the
immediate future.
The fair value of derivative financial instruments and financial assets held for trading are detailed in Note
34.
Amounts owed to customers are entirely deposit liabilities, with short maturities. Their carrying amounts at
the reporting date are therefore approximating their fair value.
Loans and advances to customers are reported net of allowances to reflect their estimated recoverable
amounts which are not deemed to defer materially from their fair value. The carrying value approximates
the fair value in case of loans which are repriceable at the Bank’s discretion.
The amounts for contingent liabilities and commitments fairly reflect the cash outflows that are expected to
arise upon their occurrence.
Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to
changes in market variables such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates. The Bank classifies exposures
to market risk into either trading or non-trading portfolios. During the year under review a non-trading
portfolio was held, predominantly made up of placements with related banks as well as a trading portfolio
made up of a mix of locally listed bonds and foreign listed bonds issued by Banif Group entities.
Except for the concentrations with currency risk and interest rate risk, the Bank has no significant
concentration of market risk.
Currency risk
Currency risk is the risk of the exposure of the Bank’s financial position and cash flow to adverse
movements in foreign exchange rates.
The Directors set limits on the level of exposure by currency and in total, which are monitored daily, and
hedging strategies are used to ensure that positions are maintained within established limits.
During the year under review, the Bank’s financial assets and liabilities were mainly held in Euro, United
States Dollar and Great Britain Pound as indicated below. The Bank did not have any significant exposure
to currency risk at 31 December 2010 and 31 December 2009.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT - continued
Currency risk - continued

Euro
United States Dollar
Great Britain Pound
Other

Assets
EUR’000

2010
Liabilities
EUR’000

Assets
EUR’000

2009
Liabilities
EUR’000

199,901
256,218
202
2,320

180,470
259,700
1,768
2,291

155,766
12,325
965
1,310

138,536
12,217
1,325
1,201

458,641

444,229

170,366

153,279

_______________________________
_______________________________

____________________________
___________________________

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk arises in the Bank’s operations due to interest rate fluctuations resulting from interest
earning assets and interest bearing liabilities, which mature or are repriced at different times or in different
amounts. Floating rate assets and liabilities are also exposed to basis risk, which is the difference in
repricing characteristics of the various floating rate indices.
The Bank adopts a policy to match the currency and maturity of individual transactions through treasury
operations to minimise the risk of adverse fluctuations in interest rates or exchange rates affecting financial
assets and financial liabilities.
The table below analyses interest-bearing assets and liabilities between those that have a fixed rate and a
variable rate:
2010
2009
Fixed
Variable
Fixed
Variable
EUR’000
EUR’000
EUR’000
EUR’000
Assets
Reserve deposit with Central Bank of Malta
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers

255,616
-

4,948
20,927
156,950

255,616

182,825

6,000
192,566

241,113

198,566

241,113

_______________________________
_______________________________

Liabilities
Amounts owed to banks
Amounts owed to customers

_______________________________
_______________________________

76,843
-

3,452
8,044
60,003

76,843

71,499

3,701
126,018

134
20,048

129,719

20,182

____________________________
___________________________

____________________________
___________________________
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT - continued
Interest rate risk - continued
Sensitivity analysis - effect on profit before tax
The table below indicates the sensitivity of the loss before tax to a reasonable possible change in interest
rates, with all other variables held constant.
The sensitivity of the loss before tax is the effect of the assumed changes in interest rates on the net
interest and trading income for one year, based on the floating rate of trading and non-trading financial
assets and financial liabilities held at 31 December 2010.
2010

Assets repriced
Liabilities repriced

Increase in
Sensitivity
basis points of net interest
income
EUR’000

Sensitivity
of trading
income
EUR’000

+100/-100 3,643/(3,643)
+100/-100 (3,097)/3,097

8/(8)
-

__________________

546/(546)

2009

Assets repriced
Liabilities repriced

_________________

8/(8)

__________________

_________________

Increase in
Sensitivity
basis points of net interest
income
EUR’000

Sensitivity
of trading
income
EUR’000

+100/-100 1,179/(1,179)
+100/-100
(822)/822

30/(30)
-

_____________

357/(357)

_____________

_____________

30/(30)

_____________

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will be unable to fulfil the terms of his obligations when due. The
Bank manages and controls credit risk by setting limits on the amount of risk it is willing to accept for
individual counterparties and for industry concentrations, and by monitoring exposures in relation to such
limits.
In view of the nature of its business, the Bank’s financial assets are inherently and predominately subject to
credit risk. Thus, management has put in place internal control systems to evaluate, approve and monitor
credit risks relating to both investments and loan portfolios.
The Bank has also established a credit quality review process to provide early identification of possible
changes in the creditworthiness of counterparties, including regular collateral revisions.
With respect to credit risk arising for the components of the Statement of financial position, which
comprise amounts due from banks, loans and advances to customers, prepayments and accrued income and
commitments, the Bank’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum
exposure equal to the carrying amount of these instruments.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT - continued
Credit risk - continued
The table below shows the maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the Statement of
financial position. The maximum exposure is shown gross, before the effect of mitigation through the use
of master netting and collateral agreements.
Gross maximum
Gross maximum
exposure
exposure
2010
2009
Notes
EUR’000
EUR’000
Balances with Central Bank of Malta
(excluding cash at hand)
14
4,513
3,670
Financial assets held-for-trading
15
4,179
6,766
Loans and advances to banks
16
276,543
84,887
Loans and advances to customers
17
155,764
59,487
Other assets
3,861
3,152
_____________

Total
Contingent liabilities
Undrawn commitments to lend

444,860

32
32

Total
Total credit risk exposure

_____________

157,962

_____________

_____________

5,159
59,607

2,902
35,754

_____________

64,766

_____________

509,626

_____________

_____________

38,656

_____________

196,618

_____________

Risk concentrations of the maximum exposure to credit risk
Concentration risk is the risk that one particular exposure or group of exposures leads to significant losses
as a result of an inadequate diversification of the credit exposures. This risk is managed by setting levels
within which risk coefficients calculated for each of the following risk drivers should be kept. These
coefficients are arrived at through the calculation of a concentration index on each of the following:

•
•
•
•
•

Industry sector
Client/counterparty
Collateral
Currency
Product

The index is organised into five levels of concentration with the maximum level having a coefficient of
0.05 assigned to calculated risk concentrations of between 25 and 100.
The concentration index (CIX) is calculated through the following formula:

This calculation then provides the basis for allocating economic capital as per Banking Rule BR/12.
The maximum on-balance sheet credit exposure to any client, group of connected clients or counterparty
as at 31 December 2010 amounted to EUR3,500,000 (2009 – EUR2,300,000) before taking account of
collateral or other credit enhancements and no value exposure when considering it net of such protection.

56

BANIF BANK (MALTA) PLC
Annual Report and Financial Statements 2010

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
33.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT - continued
Risk concentrations of the maximum exposure to credit risk - continued
An industry sector analysis of the Bank’s financial assets including commitments, before and after taking
into account collateral held or other credit enhancements, is as follows:

Agriculture
Fishing
Mining and quarrying
Manufacturing
Electricity
Water Supply; Sewerage waste management and
remediation activities
Construction
Wholesale and retail trade
Transport, storage and communication
Hotels and restaurants, excluding related
construction activities
Information and communication
Financial services
Real estate, renting and business activities
Professional, scientific and technical activities
Administrative and support service activities
Public administration
Education
Health and social work
Arts, entertainment and recreation
Other Services activities
Households and individuals
Other

Gross
maximum
exposure
2010
EUR’000

Net
maximum
exposure
2010
EUR’000

Gross
maximum
exposure
2009
EUR’000

Net
maximum
exposure
2009
EUR’000

597
1,700
4,666
1,593

137
903
1,757
1,405

490
147
2,912
-

490
82
595
-

134
29,731
14,658
8,082

13,543
4,882
3,591

4,078
13,779
3,867

2,425
8,850
2,617

581
7,322
294,104
13,034
1,389
3,089
4
414
463
2,423
462
124,284
896

386
5,252
288,686
2,798
1,046
2,133
4
414
3
736
449
43,746
898

504
94,969
18,350
515
97
56,741
169

463
94,947
6,925
515
97
27,914
169

509,626

372,769

196,618

146,089

_______________________________
_______________________________

______________________________
______________________________
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33.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT - continued
Collateral and other credit enhancements
The amount and type of collateral required depends on an assessment of the credit risk of the counterparty.
Guidelines are implemented regarding the acceptability of types of collateral and valuation parameters.
The main types of collateral obtained are as follows:
•
•

For commercial lending, charges over real estate properties, cash or securities,
For retail lending, mortgages over residential properties, cash or securities.

Management monitors the market value of collateral, requests additional collateral in accordance with the
underlying agreement, and monitors the market value of collateral obtained during its review of the
adequacy of the allowance for impairment losses.
It is the Bank's policy to dispose of repossessed properties in an orderly fashion. The proceeds are used to
reduce or repay the outstanding claim. In general, the Bank does not occupy repossessed properties for
business use.
Credit quality per class of financial assets
The credit quality of financial assets is managed by the Bank using internal credit ratings. The table below
shows the credit quality by class of asset for loan-related financial assets exposed to credit risk, based on
the Bank's credit rating system.
Neither past due nor impaired

_______________________________________________

Notes

Sub- Past due or
Standard individually
Grade
impaired
EUR’000
EUR’000

High
Grade
EUR’000

Standard
Grade
EUR’000

491
1,737

3,688
276,543
-

-

-

4,179
276,543
1,737

60,270
12,253
63,951
15,440

492
2
307
-

9
1
-

3,363
108
394
360

64,134
12,364
64,652
15,800

151,914

801

10

4,225

156,950

154,142

281,032

10

4,225

439,409

Total
EUR’000

At 31 December 2010
Financial assets held-for-trading
Loans and advances to banks
Cheques in course of collection

15
16

Loans and advances to customers
Small business and
corporate lending
Consumer lending
Residential mortgages
Other

17

Sub-total
Total

__________________________________________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________________
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT - continued
Credit quality per class of financial assets - continued
Neither past due nor impaired

_______________________________________________

Notes

Sub- Past due or
Standard individually
Grade
impaired
EUR’000
EUR’000

High
Grade
EUR’000

Standard
Grade
EUR’000

962
2,255

5,804
84,887
-

-

-

6,766
84,887
2,255

23,306
4,568
25,550
5,480

267
2

80
-

194
7
3
546

23,847
4,575
25,553
6,028

58,904

269

80

750

60,003

62,121

90,960

80

750

153,911

Total
EUR’000

At 31 December 2009
Financial assets held-for-trading
Loans and advances to banks
Cheques in course of collection

15
16

Loans and advances to customers
Small business and
corporate lending
Consumer lending
Residential mortgages
Other

17

Sub-total
Total

__________________________________________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________________

Aging analysis of past due but not impaired per class of financial asset
Less than
30 days
EUR’000

From
31 to 60
days
EUR’000

From
61 to 90
days
EUR’000

Over 90
days
EUR’000

Total
EUR’000

178
114
14
67

118
2
-

2
1
-

2,917
65
227
38

3,215
182
241
105

373

120

3

3,247

3,743

96
7
3
401

1
-

7
-

-

104
7
3
401

507

1

7

-

515

At 31 December 2010
Loans and advances to customers
Small business and corporate lending
Consumer lending
Residential mortgages
Other

__________________________________________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________________________________

At 31 December 2009
Loans and advances to customers
Small business and corporate lending
Consumer lending
Residential mortgages
Other

__________________________________________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________________________________
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT - continued
Aging analysis of fair value of the collateral on past due but not impaired loans
The table below analyses the fair value of the collateral amount of loans and advances to customers which
was past due but not impaired.
Less than
30 days
EUR’000

From
31 to 60
days
EUR’000

From
61 to 90
days
EUR’000

Over 90
days
EUR’000

Total
EUR’000

3,060
135
-

-

-

5,166
597
4

8,226
135
597
4

3,195

-

-

5,767

8,962

At 31 December 2010
Loans and advances to customers
Small business and corporate lending
Consumer lending
Residential mortgages
Other

__________________________________________________________________________________
__________________________________________________________________________________

The amount of loans and advances to customers which was past due but not impaired as at end of 2009
had a fair value of collateral amounting to EUR33,000.
Collateral repossessed
During the year, the Bank took possession of two term deposits pledged in favour of the Bank with a
carrying value of EUR2,359 (2009 – EUR64,851).
Renegotiated credit
The Bank renegotiated credit amounting to EUR885,785 during 2010.
Impairment assessment
Allowances are assessed collectively for losses on loans and advances that are not individually significant
(including credit cards, residential mortgages and unsecured consumer lending) and for individually
significant loans and advances where there is not yet objective evidence of individual impairment.
Allowances are evaluated on each reporting date with each portfolio receiving a separate review.
The collective assessment takes account of impairment that is likely to be present in the portfolio even
though there is not yet objective evidence of the impairment in an individual assessment. Impairment losses
are estimated by taking into consideration the following information: historical losses on the portfolio,
current economic conditions, the approximate delay between the time a loss is likely to have been incurred
and the time it will be identified as requiring an individually assessed impairment allowance, and expected
receipts and recoveries once impaired. Local management is responsible for deciding the length of this
period which can extend for as long as one year. The impairment allowance is then reviewed by credit
management to ensure alignment with the Bank's overall policy.
Financial guarantees and letters of credit are assessed and provision made in a similar manner as for loans.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT - continued
Credit risk exposure for each internal risk rating
The Bank adopts a Credit Policy whereby each borrowing party or a group of borrowing parties are
assigned an Internal Rating which is based on the Internal Rating System (IRS) defined by MFSA Banking
Rule BR/09. Such rating is periodically reviewed, at least once a year, with borrowers being assigned a new
rating when conditions change. Exposures with deteriorating ratings are subject to intensive monitoring by
the responsible unit. Deteriorating exposures are clearly identified and brought to the attention of senior
management.
The credit grading classes adopted in terms of the Credit Policy are mapped to the Standard & Poor’s
Credit Rating definitions. The S&P’s ratings are converted into probability of defaults which are used in the
calculation of the collective allowance for impairment of financial assets.
The table below indicates the level of exposures of the loan-related statement of financial position items
(before taking into account collateral) in each risk rating class.

2010
High Grade
Risk rating class A1
Risk rating class A2
Risk rating class A3
Standard
Risk rating class B
Past Due or Individually Impaired
Risk rating class C

S&P’s
equivalent
grades

Average
unsecured
share of
exposure
%

Total
EUR’000

AAA
AA- to AA+
A- to A+

100.00
15.94
14.58

667
29,952
121,295

BBB+ to B+

15.92

811

B- and below

25.59

4,225

___________

156,950

___________

2009
High Grade
Risk rating class A1
Risk rating class A2
Risk rating class A3
Standard
Risk rating class B
Past Due or Individually Impaired
Risk rating class C

S&P’s
equivalent
grades

Average
unsecured
share of
exposure
%

Total
EUR’000

AAA
AA- to AA+
A- to A+

11.23
19.79

4,529
54,375

BBB+ to B+

23.26

349

B- and below

94.68

750

___________

60,003

___________
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT - continued
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk of the exposure of the Bank’s mismatches in its portfolio of assets, liabilities and
commitments. The Bank continuously monitors liquidity risk by identifying and monitoring changes in
funding required to meet liquidity requirements. Its policy to match currency exposures and maturity
positions almost entirely results in few or no open risk positions.
The liquidity position is assessed and managed under a variety of scenarios, giving due consideration to
stress factors relating to both the market in general and specifically to the Bank. From a regulatory point
of view, the Bank adheres to Banking Rule BR/05, which stipulates that every credit institution is required
to maintain a minimum liquid-asset proportion of 30% of the total deposit liabilities net of deductions. As
at end of December 2010, the Bank’s proportion of liquid-assets to short-term liabilities as reduced stood
at 63.70% (2009 - 51.25%).
The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Bank’s financial liabilities at 31 December 2010
and 31 December 2009 based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligation.
Repayments which are subject to notice are treated as if notice were to be given immediately. However,
the Bank expects that many customers will not request repayment on the earliest date the Bank could be
required to pay. The table does not reflect the expected cash flows indicated by the Bank's deposit
retention history.
Less
than three
months
EUR’000

Between
three
months and
one year
EUR’000

Between
one and
two years
EUR’000

More Than
two years
EUR’000

Others
EUR’000

Total
EUR’000

6,004
320,024
166
3,734

72,914
35
339

11,088
15
67

35,911
183

11

6,004
439,937
216
4,334

Financial liabilities
At 31 December 2010
Amounts owed to banks
Amounts owed to customers
Derivative financial instruments
Other liabilities

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________

Total undiscounted liabilities 2010

At 31 December 2009
Amounts owed to banks
Amounts owed to customers
Derivative financial instruments
Other liabilities

329,928

73,288

11,170

36,094

11

450,491

3,851
84,846
164
2,245

35,529
714
174

25,669
35

2,247
30

15

3,851
148,291
878
2,499

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________

Total undiscounted liabilities 2009

91,106

36,417

25,704

2,277

15

155,519

___________________________________________________________________________________________________________
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT - continued
Liquidity risk - continued
The table below shows the contractual expiry by maturity of the Bank’s commitments.

At 31 December 2010
Capital commitments
Loan commitments
Guarantees
Documentary credits

Not later than
1 year
EUR’000

1 - 5 years
EUR’000

Over 5 years
EUR’000

Total
EUR’000

3,647
59,607
4,428
731

-

-

3,647
59,607
4,428
731

68,413

-

-

68,413

1,496
35,754
2,199
703

-

-

1,496
35,754
2,199
703

40,152

-

-

40,152

____________________________________________________________________________________

Total

_____________________________________________________________________________________

At 31 December 2009
Capital commitments
Loan commitments
Guarantees
Documentary credits

____________________________________________________________________________________

Total

_____________________________________________________________________________________

Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities
The table below shows an analysis of assets and liabilities analysed according to when they are expected
to be recovered or settled.

At 31 December 2010
Assets
Balances with the Central Bank and
cash
Cheques in course of collection
Financial assets held-for-trading
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Property and equipment
Intangible assets
Derivative financial instruments
Prepayments and accrued income
Deferred tax asset
Other assets
Total
Liabilities
Amounts owed to banks
Amounts owed to customers
Derivative financial instruments
Other liabilities
Accruals and deferred income
Total

Less than
three
months
EUR’000

Between
three
months and
one year
EUR’000

Between
one and
two years
EUR’000

More than
two years
EUR’000

Others
EUR’000

Total
EUR’000

6,607
1,737
276,262
30,976
41
1,755
45

897
281
9,658
130
13
-

12,617
143
-

3,282
102,513
-

5,470
620
5,283
311

6,607
1,737
4,179
276,543
155,764
5,470
620
314
1,768
5,283
356

317,423

10,979

12,760

105,795

11,684

458,641

6,000
352,056
166
2,321
1,413

45,260
35
339

6,419
15
67

29,944
183

11
-

6,000
433,679
216
2,332
2,002

361,956

45,634

6,501

30,127

11

444,229

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________

__________________________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________

63

BANIF BANK (MALTA) PLC
Annual Report and Financial Statements 2010

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - continued
33.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT - continued
Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities - continued

At 31 December 2009
Assets
Balances with the Central Bank and
cash
Cheques in course of collection
Financial assets held-for-trading
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Property and equipment
Intangible assets
Derivative financial instruments
Prepayments and accrued income
Deferred tax asset
Other assets
Total
Liabilities
Amounts owed to banks
Amounts owed to customers
Derivative financial instruments
Other liabilities
Accruals and deferred income
Total

Between
Less than
three
months
EUR’000

three
months and
one year
EUR’000

Between
one and
two years
EUR’000

More than
two years
EUR’000

Others
EUR’000

Total
EUR’000

5,051
2,255
515
75,977
12,614
135
687
4

2,943
8,910
4,555
760
35
-

611
5,744
6
-

2,697
36,574
130

5,781
442
3,905
35

5,051
2,255
6,766
84,887
59,487
5,781
442
895
728
3,905
169

97,238

17,203

6,361

39,401

10,163

170,366

3,835
84,367
164
1,589
657

34,967
714
174

24,691
35

2,041
30

15
-

3,835
146,066
878
1,604
896

90,612

35,855

24,726

2,071

15

153,279

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________

____________________________________________________________________________________________________________

Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from systems failure, human error, fraud or external events.
When controls fail to perform, operational risks can cause damage to reputation, have legal or regulatory
implications, or lead to financial loss. The Bank cannot expect to eliminate all operational risks, but
through control framework and by monitoring and responding to potential risks, the Bank is able to manage
and mitigate the risks. Controls include effective segregation of duties, access, authorisation and
reconciliation procedures, staff education and assessment processes, including the use of internal audit.
34.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Bank uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial
instruments by valuation technique:
Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;
Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are
observable, either directly or indirectly; and
Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not
based on observable market data.
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FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
The following table shows an analysis of financial instruments recorded at fair value by level of the fair
value hierarchy:
Level 1
Level 2
Level 3
Total
EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000 EUR’000
At 31 December 2010
Financial assets
Derivative financial instruments
Forward foreign exchange
312
312
Currency swaps
2
2
___________________________________________________________________

Sub-total
Other financial assets held-for-trading
Government debt securities
Debt securities issued by banks
Other corporate debt securities
Sub-total
Total
Financial liabilities
Derivative financial instruments
Forward foreign exchange
Currency swaps
Total

At 31 December 2009
Financial assets
Derivative financial instruments
Forward foreign exchange
Currency swaps
Sub-total
Other financial assets held-for-trading
Government debt securities
Debt securities issued by banks
Other corporate debt securities
Sub-total
Total
Financial liabilities
Derivative financial instruments
Forward foreign exchange
Total

-

314

-

314

-

1,616
2,563

-

1,616
2,563

-

4,179

-

4,179

-

4,493

-

4,493

-

79
137

-

79
137

-

216

-

216

Level 1
EUR’000

Level 2
EUR’000

-

71
824

-

71
824

-

895

-

895

503
-

1,070
5,193

-

503
1,070
5,193

503

6,263

-

6,766

503

7,158

-

7,661

-

878

-

878

-

878

-

878

___________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________

Level 3
Total
EUR’000 EUR’000

___________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________
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FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - continued
The following is a description of the determination of fair value for financial instruments which are
recorded at fair value using valuation techniques. These incorporate the Bank’s estimate of assumptions
that a market participant would make when valuing the instruments.
Derivatives
Derivative products valued using a valuation technique with market observable inputs are mainly, currency
swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts. The most frequently applied valuation techniques include
forward pricing and swap models, using present value calculations. The models incorporate various inputs
including the foreign exchange spot and forward rates and interest rate curves.
Other trading assets
Other trading assets valued using a valuation technique consists of certain debt securities. The Bank values
the securities using valuation models which use discounted cash flow analysis which incorporates either
only observable data or both observable and non-observable data. Observable inputs include assumptions
regarding current rates of interest and real estate prices; unobservable inputs include assumptions regarding
future default rates, prepayment rates and market liquidity discounts.

35.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
It is the Bank’s policy to actively manage its capital base to cover risks inherent in the business and at the
same time to support the development of the business, to maximise shareholders’ value and to meet all the
regulatory requirements.
The Bank manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of its activities.
Externally imposed capital requirements
The Malta Financial Services Authority (MFSA) requires each bank and banking group, to maintain a
minimum ratio of total capital to risk-weighted assets of 8%, taking into account both balance sheet assets
and off-balance sheet transactions.
In 2007, the Malta Financial Services Authority (MFSA) started transposing the EU Capital Requirements
Directive 2006/48/EC into local regulations by introducing a number of Banking Rules. The Directive,
which is commonly referred to as Basel II, lays down rules concerning the taking up and pursuit of the
business of credit institutions and their prudential supervision. In particular, the Directive aims to align the
institutions’ risk profile and their risk management systems to their capital. All this is addressed by way of
three sets of rules, commonly referred to as Pillar 1, 2 and 3.
Pillar 1 capital requirements are based on standard rules and set the minimum own funds requirements to
cover credit risk, market risk and operational risk of the credit institution.
Pillar 2 involves an assessment of the additional capital that is required to mitigate those risks that are not
adequately covered by Pillar 1. This is a two-tier process that involves the internal assessment that needs to
be carried out by the institution and the review process that has to be carried out by the Regulator.
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35.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT - continued
In terms of Banking Rule BR/12, during the year, the Bank continued implementing the necessary
structures to allocate capital to cover Pillar II risks. A working group composed of members from Risk,
Treasury, Finance and Reporting and Control and Compliance Departments is steering this forward. This
Working Group reports to the Asset and Liability Committee (the “ALCO”). The Working Group meets on
a regular basis to monitor the adequacy of the Bank’s capital, assists ALCO members in devising strategies
to make efficient use of capital and assists in devising the level and structure of capital required.
Pillar 3 covers the quantitative and qualitative disclosure requirements that an institution has to abide with
to ensure transparency about its conduction of business activities. This is addressed by MFSA Banking
Rule BR/07. In terms of BR/07, the Bank is a ‘significant local subsidiary’ of Banif SGPS SA which is an
entity registered in Portugal and is therefore exempted from full risk disclosure requirements under Pillar 3.
The table below reconciles the risk weighted assets to the positions reported in the statement of financial
position.
2010
2009
Face
Weighted
Face Weighted
value
amount
value
amount
EUR’000
EUR’000
EUR’000
EUR’000
On-balance sheet assets
Cash and balances with Central Bank of Malta
6,607
5,051
Cheques in course of collection
1,737
347
2,255
452
Financial assets held-for-trading
4,179
2,653
6,766
5,408
Loans and advances to banks
276,543
55,379
84,887
30,617
Loans and advances to customers (gross)
156,950
76,105
60,003
30,238
Property and equipment
5,470
5,470
5,781
5,781
Intangible assets
620
620
442
442
Derivative financial instruments
314
62
895
17
Other assets
5,639
5,639
4,074
4,074
Prepayments and accrued income
1,768
1,768
728
728
________________________________

459,827

148,043

4,428
731
59,607

1,570
17,361

64,766

18,931

________________________________

Off-balance sheet items
Guarantees
Documentary credits
Undrawn commitments

________________________________
________________________________

___________________________

170,882

77,757

2,199
703
35,754

2,097
527
13,445

38,656

16,069

___________________________

___________________________
___________________________

Total adjusted assets and off-balance sheet items

166,974

93,826

Operational risk - notional weighted assets
Foreign exchange risk - notional weighted assets

4,633
1,102

2,057
218

Total adjusted assets

___________

172,709

___________

___________

96,101

___________
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CAPITAL MANAGEMENT - continued
2010
EUR’000
Own funds
Original own funds
Ordinary shares
Reserves
Retained earnings
Unadjusted balance
Adjustment for:
Depositor Compensation Scheme Reserve

%

25,000

25,000

(10,588)

(7,913)

(208)

___________

(10,796)

(7,913)

___________

(620)

(442)

___________

___________

13,584

16,645

___________

Additional own funds
Collective impairment allowances
Total own funds
Capital adequacy ratio

%

-

___________
___________

Intangible assets

2009
EUR’000

___________

727

320

___________

___________

14,311

16,965

___________

___________

8.29

___________

17.65

___________
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ADDITIONAL REGULATORY DISCLOSURES
The additional regulatory disclosures have been prepared by the Bank in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of Banking Rule BR/07. The Bank publishes these disclosures on an annual basis as part of the
Annual Report and Financial Statements. The additional regulatory disclosures have been subject to internal
review procedures and the Bank is satisfied that the internal verification procedures ensure that these disclosures
are fairly presented.
Pillar 1 - Allocation of minimum regulatory capital
The Bank started operational activity in January 2008 when its main focus was to set up the necessary structures to
support business operations in a comprehensive manner and ensuring the minimum set of risk assessment and
control activities aligned with the Banif Group’s strategy.
The Bank complies with the Basel II requirements as far as Pillar 1 requirements are concerned allocating
regulatory capital to cover the following types of risk exposure:
i.
ii.
iii.

Credit risk using the Standardised Approach;
Operational risk using the Basic Indicator Approach; and
Market risk

Under the Standardised Approach, the exposure value of an asset is made up of the balance-sheet value, and the
resultant value of the off-balance sheet items after the application of the relevant credit conversion factors, as
defined in Annex II of Banking Rule 04/07.
Each exposure is assigned to one of the following exposure classes:
i.
ii.
iii.
iv.
v.
vi.
vii.
viii.
ix.
x.
xi.
xii.
xiii.
xiv.
xv.
xvi.

claims or contingent claims on central governments or central banks;
claims or contingent claims on regional governments or local authorities;
claims or contingent claims on administrative bodies and non-commercial undertakings;
claims or contingent claims on multilateral development banks;
claims or contingent claims on international organisations;
claims or contingent claims on institutions – including banks;
claims or contingent claims on corporate – including entities not considered as a small or medium sized
entity;
claims or contingent retail claims – including exposures to individual persons or to a small or medium sized
entity;
claims or contingent claims secured on real estate property;
past due items;
items belonging to regulatory high-risk categories;
claims in the form of covered bonds;
securitisation positions;
short-term claims on institutions and corporate;
claims in the form of collective investment undertakings (CIU);
other items.

Allocation of minimum regulatory capital
The table below summarises the on-balance sheet and off-balance sheet assets organised in the respective exposure
classes and the respective risk-weighted amounts together with the associated capital required calculated at 8% of
the risk-weighted amount as reported to MFSA in line with Banking Rule 04.

69

BANIF BANK (MALTA) PLC
Annual Report and Financial Statements 2010

ADDITIONAL REGULATORY DISCLOSURES - continued

On-balance sheet assets
Claims on government or central banks
Claims on institutions
Claims on corporates
Claims on retail
Claims secured by real estate
Past due items
Other items

Face
value
EUR’000

2010
Weighted
amount
EUR’000

Capital
required
EUR’000

5,206
279,138
5,166
27,314
121,714
3,731
17,558

750
56,422
1,666
17,772
55,660
1,925
13,848

60
4,514
133
1,422
4,453
154
1,108

459,827

148,043

11,844

57
2,500
14,948
47,260
1

7,705
11,225
1

616
898
-

64,766

18,931

1,514

166,974

30,820
5,245
9,042
21,177
30
11,443

2,466
420
723
1,694
2
915

170,882

77,757

6,220

398
7,047
31,209
2

4,321
11,746
2

346
940
-

38,656

16,069

1,286

13,358

93,826

7,506

4,633

371

2,057

165

1,102

88

218

17

172,709

13,817

96,101

7,688

EUR’000

%

EUR’000

%

______________________________________________

_______________________________________________
______________________________________________

Sub-total
Operational risk - notional weighted assets
Foreign exchange risk - notional weighted assets
Total weighted assets and capital required

Own funds
Original own funds
Ordinary shares
Retained earnings
Intangible assets

_______________________________
_______________________________

25,000
(10,796)
(620)

___________

Capital adequacy ratio

_____________________________________________

____________________________________________
_____________________________________________

________________________________
________________________________

___________

16,645

___________

Total own funds

_____________________________________________

25,000
(7,913)
(442)

13,584

Additional own funds
Collective impairment allowances

Capital
required
EUR’000

4,525
85,906
5,245
13,492
45,924
236
15,554

______________________________________________

Off-balance sheet items
Claims on government or central banks
Corporates
Claims on retail
Claims secured by real estate
Past due items

2009
Face Weighted
value
amount
EUR’000 EUR’000

___________

727

320

___________

___________

14,311

16,965

___________

___________

8.29

___________

17.65

___________
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ADDITIONAL REGULATORY DISCLOSURES - continued
Pillar 2 - Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process
In order to comply with Pillar 2 requirements emanating from MFSA Banking Rule 12/08 as well as to better
manage its overall risk-taking activities, the Bank has, during 2010, continued implementing structures and
mechanisms to allocate economic capital to cover other risks not adequately covered by Pillar 1. The Bank
conducted a review exercise of the Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) in July 2010 and
submitted a report to MFSA accordingly.
During 2010, the Bank was subject to the first Supervisory Review Process conducted by MFSA. The outcome of
this review was very positive and the Bank has taken immediate steps to address those areas where room for
improvement was identified.
The Bank is committed to further reinforce the soundness of the risk culture and economic capital management
with active participation from all areas of the Bank, namely the Board of Directors, Executive Committee, Risk
Management Department, Treasury Department, Finance & Reporting Department, Control & Compliance
Department, and other relevant business areas/functions.
The international financial crisis posed new challenges that banks have to be prepared to address. This goes
beyond meeting the regulatory standards and is more related to the continuous management and control of the
inherent risks in the day-to-day activities that a bank carries out. In this respect, the Bank is committed to further
reinforce the processes of identification and quantification of risks in line with the evolution of its risk profile.
This will be complemented by increased internal control efficiency and better use of mitigation techniques.
In line with the overall thrust of Banif Group, the Bank is set to pursue a business growth strategy based not just
on compliance, quality and performance criteria, but also on having a sound internal capital adequacy management
and risk control measures.
The table below highlights the main phases undertaken during the review exercise.
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ADDITIONAL REGULATORY DISCLOSURES - continued
Pillar 2 - Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process - continued
Risk Strategy Definition
The risk strategy of the Bank is governed by global strategic guidelines set by the Group which include the
following six components:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)
(f)

Risk culture;
Tolerance and risk appetite;
Risk methodology;
Capital adequacy strategy;
Capital planning and allocation; and
Policies, control and reporting.

Apart from the confirmation of the risk strategy, some initiatives have been taken during the year in order to
promote the risk culture in different areas of the business including the participation of the Bank’s Board of
Directors.
Risk Identification and Quantification
Based on the initial “Risk Assessment Model” suggested by the Bank of Portugal, the Bank identified the
relevant risks related to its activities that are subject to economic capital quantification.
In order to calculate the economic capital requirements, a confidence level of 99.93% (in line with the Group’s
risk appetite) was considered. The Bank determined the most suitable measurement approach based on the
internal data available for each relevant risk type and the Bank’s economic perspective on risk exposures.
Following the economic capital calculation for each risk type, an aggregation of all risk exposures was carried
out, applying the diversification effect that was used to determine the economic capital total amount.
Extreme but plausible stress scenarios have been considered to evaluate the economic capital model behaviour
and impact, according to different risk factors magnitudes. These stress tests, considered not only the adverse
situations on intrinsic risk variables, but also external (macroeconomic) variables that are correlated with the
Bank’s material risks.
Risk Taking Capacity Model
In this phase the Bank identified the available financial resources (by types and amounts) within the Bank to
cover different severity loss scenarios (calculated in the previous phase). Such financial resources were classified
into four security levels, based on capacity to absorb losses, availability, liquidity and reputational effects within
the market.
Capital and Business Planning
The capital planning model was defined in a way that enables the business areas to use on a day-to-day basis
(capital consumption perspective), and promotes the diffusion of risk management in the Bank, through the
economic capital allocation by the different business areas according to their risk profile. The internal capital
allocation by the business areas is set to achieve the following goals:
1.
2.

Determine the units’ relative performance measure according to the risk assumed (e.g. using risk
adjusted performance measures like RARORAC, RAROC, EVAR, among others);
Provide key information to support strategic and management decisions, as a basis for business
planning, and the establishment a system of thresholds designed to control exposures assumed by risk
type and business area. The diversification effect between areas was taken into account in the capital
and business planning.
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ADDITIONAL REGULATORY DISCLOSURES - continued
Pillar 2 - Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process - continued
Governance, Control and Reporting
In this phase, the Bank performed a revision of procedures to ensure the adequacy of existing processes, the
definition of control mechanisms and the development of new risk management practices to support the Bank’s
ICAAP.
The governance model was reviewed in order to further stengthen the overall risk awareness by the Board of
Directors and the Risk Management Department. This was complemented with an assessment of the Bank’s risk
profile vis-a-vis internal capital adequacy, control and consumption.
The Bank made a great effort to implement its own ICAAP Framework, in order to fulfil the MFSA’s
requirement on the matter, to align the same ICAAP with that of the Group’s general approach and to ensure the
adoption of the industry best practices.
Measures were taken to ensure that the ICAAP review exercise is supported through formal documentation,
complete with the detailed description of all calculations performed, as well as assumptions and methodologies
used in the process. This documentation was subject to internal validation by the different areas involved in
ICAAP formulation and endorsed by the Chief Executive Officer.
The following areas participated actively in the Bank’s ICAAP review exercise:

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

The Board of Directors;
The Executive Committee;
The Risk Management Department;
The Treasury Department;
The Finance & Reporting Department;
The IT Department;
The Control and Compliance Department and
The Group’s Risk Function

In line with the review exercise, the Bank continued developing the internal capital assessment process mechanism
taking into consideration its specific risk profile and risk exposure. Such assessments go hand in hand with the
development of a detailed contingency plan, in order to ensure a continuing balance between internal capital and
risk exposure.
The ICAAP has again confirmed that the Bank’s internal capital level is adequate to the risk strategy defined and
the overall risk exposure undertaken.
The Bank’s Board of Directors is of the opinion that capital supply and demand can be reasonably managed by
balancing capital efficiency and prudence thereby steering the Bank in a course which lies within the Banif
Group’s approach, preserves competitive position in respect of capital requirements and maintains/enhances the
Bank’s and the Banif Group’s reputation in the financial services industry.
The Board is also of the opinion that the ICAAP exercise carried out covered all material risks in order to
determine the capital requirement over a three-year time horizon as well as the potential effect on additional
capital required as a result of the stress scenarios taken into consideration.

73

BANIF BANK (MALTA) PLC
Annual Report and Financial Statements 2010

FOUR YEAR SUMMARY FIGURES
Statement of Comprehensive Income
2010
EUR’000
Interest receivable and similar income
on loans and advances and balances with the
Central Bank of Malta
Interest payable and similar expense
Net interest income
Fees and commission income
Fees and commission expense
Net fee and commission income
Net trading income
Total operating income
Personnel expenses
Other administrative expenses
Depreciation of property and equipment
Amortisation of intangible assets
Total operating expenses
Net operating loss before impairment
and provisions
Net impairment losses
Loss before tax
Income tax credit
Loss for the year
Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax

Loss per share

6,760
(3,449)

_______________

3,311

_______________

1,022
(216)

_______________

806

_______________

1,009

_______________

5,126

_______________

(3,712)
(4,182)
(485)
(128)

_______________

(8,507)

_______________

(3,381)
(670)

_______________

(4,051)
1,376

_______________

(2,675)

______________

(2,675)

2009
EUR’000

2,206
(1,102)

______________

1,104

______________

396
(61)

______________

335

______________

416

______________

1,855

______________

(2,834)
(3,321)
(463)
(94)

______________

(6,712)

______________

(4,857)
(367)

______________

(5,224)
1,694

______________

(3,530)

______________

(3,530)

2008
EUR’000

866
(314)

______________

552

______________

84
(24)

______________

60

______________

13

______________

625

______________

(1,750)
(3,128)
(341)
(74)

______________

(5,293)

______________

(4,668)
(149)

______________

(4,817)
1,661

______________

(3,156)

______________

(3,156)

2007
EUR’000

219
-

____________

219

____________

-

____________

-

____________

-

____________

219

____________

(422)
(1,415)
(140)
(3)

____________

(1,980)

____________

(1,761)
-

____________

(1,761)
534

____________

(1,227)

____________

(1,227)

______________

______________

______________

____________

EUR

EUR

EUR

EUR

(10.7c)

______________

(14.1c)

______________

(13.1c)

______________

(8.1c)

____________
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FOUR YEAR SUMMARY FIGURES - continued
Statement of Financial Position

ASSETS
Cash and balances with Central Bank of Malta
Cheques in course of collection
Financial assets held-for-trading
Loans and advance to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Property and equipment
Intangible assets
Derivative financial instruments
Prepayments and accrued income
Deferred tax asset
Other assets
TOTAL ASSETS
LIABILITIES
Amounts owed to banks
Amounts owed to customers
Derivative financial instruments
Other liabilities
Accruals and deferred income
TOTAL LIABILITIES
EQUITY
Issued capital
Retained earnings
TOTAL EQUITY
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

2010
EUR’000

2009
EUR’000

2008
EUR’000

2007
EUR’000

6,607
1,737
4,179
276,543
155,764
5,470
620
314
1,768
5,283
356

5,051
2,255
6,766
84,887
59,487
5,781
442
895
728
3,905
169

614
47
15,143
11,445
3,872
445
401
2,205
134

6,910
578
33
355
541
-

_______________

458,641

______________

170,366

______________

34,306

____________

8,417

______________

______________

______________

____________

6,000
433,679
216
2,332
2,002

3,835
146,066
878
1,604
896

21,616
819
1,254

2
398
244

_______________

444,229

_______________

25,000
(10,588)

_______________

14,412

_______________

458,641

______________

______________

153,279

______________

25,000
(7,913)

______________

17,087

______________

170,366

______________

______________

23,689

______________

15,000
(4,383)

______________

10,617

______________

34,306

______________

____________

644

____________

9,000
(1,227)

____________

7,773

____________

8,417

____________

Memorandum items

Contingent liabilities
Commitments

5,159

_______________

63,254

_______________

2,902

______________

37,250

______________

1,172

______________

13,376

______________

-

____________

5,334

____________

75

BANIF BANK (MALTA) PLC
Annual Report and Financial Statements 2010

FOUR YEAR SUMMARY FIGURES - continued
Statement of Cash Flows
2010
EUR’000
Operating activities
Interest received
Fees and commission received
Interest paid
Fees and commission paid
Proceeds from trading activities
Payments to employees and suppliers
Operating loss before changes in
operating assets/liabilities

5,836
1,022
(2,351)
(216)
1,015
(7,868)

_______________

2009
EUR’000
2,033
396
(828)
(61)
275
(6,557)

______________

2008
EUR’000
652
84
(135)
(24)
13
(4,156)

______________

2007
EUR’000
219
(1,374)

____________

(2,562)

(4,742)

(3,566)

Increase/(Decrease) in operating assets
Reserve deposit with Central Bank of Malta
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Financial assets held-for-trading
Other receivables

(1,496)
15,181
(96,947)
2,499
315

(3,213)
(6,063)
(48,409)
(6,640)
(2,244)

(239)
(9,401)
(11,594)
(181)

-

Increase in operating liabilities
Amounts owed to customers
Other payables

287,613
700

124,450
578

21,614
371

2
-

Operating profit / (loss) after changes in
operating assets/liabilities
Income tax paid
Net cash flows from/(used) in operating activities
Investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment and
intangible assets
Net cash flows used in investing activities

_______________

______________

205,303

53,717

(2)

_______________

205,301

_______________

(569)

_______________

(569)

_______________

(7)

______________

53,710

______________

(2,639)

______________

(2,639)

______________

______________

(2,996)
(3)

______________

(2,999)

______________

(3,794)

______________

(3,794)

______________

(1,155)

____________

(1,153)
(7)

____________

(1,160)

____________

(930)

____________

(930)

____________
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FOUR YEAR SUMMARY FIGURES - continued
Statement of Cash Flows - continued
2010
EUR’000
Financing activities
Proceeds from increase in paid up
value of issued share capital
Net cash flows from financing activities
Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Effects of exchange rate changes on cash and cash
equivalents
Net increase/(decrease) in cash
and cash equivalents
Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

-

_______________

-

2009
EUR’000

10,000

______________

10,000

_______________

______________

204,732

61,071

1,045
203,687

(7)
61,078

_______________

______________

204,732

61,071

67,188

_______________

271,920

______________

6,117

______________

67,188

______________

2008
EUR’000

6,000

______________

6,000

______________

(793)
(793)

______________

(793)

6,910

______________

6,117

______________

2007
EUR’000

9,000

____________

9,000

____________

6,910
6,910

____________

6,910

-

____________

6,910

____________
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FOUR YEAR SUMMARY FIGURES - continued
Accounting Ratios
2010
%

2009
%

2008
%

2007
%

1.1

1.1

1.8

2.6

1.85

3.9

15.4

23.52

165.96

361.83

846.88

904.11

(0.88)

(3.1)

(14.04)

(20.92)

Loss before tax to equity

(28.11)

(30.57)

(45.37)

(22.66)

Loss after tax to equity

(18.56)

(20.66)

(29.73)

(15.78)

2010

2009

2008

2007

Shares in issue (millions)

25

25

25

15

Net assets per share (Euro cents)

58

68

42

52

10.7

14.1

13.1

8.1

Net interest income and other operating income to
total assets
Operating expenses to total assets
Cost to income ratio
Loss before tax to total assets

Loss per share (Euro cents)
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SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Shareholding information
Banif Bank (Malta) p.l.c. authorised share capital is EUR50,000,000.
The issued share capital stood at EUR25,000,000 as at 31 December 2010, made up of 25,000,000 fully paid up
shares of EUR1 each.
The shares are held as follows:
No. of shares
Banif SGPS, SA (511 029 730)
PG Holdings Ltd (C 8569)
Virtu Investments Ltd (C 42860)
Mizzi Capital Projects Ltd (C 42406)
SAK Ltd (C 3240)

18,000,000
1,750,000
1,750,000
1,750,000
1,750,000

__________________

25,000,000

__________________

The percentage holdings stand as follows:
%
Banif SGPS, SA (511 029 730)
PG Holdings Ltd (C 8569)
Virtu Investments Ltd (C 42860)
Mizzi Capital Projects Ltd (C42406)
SAK Ltd (C 3240)

72
7
7
7
7

________________

100

________________

Each of the shareholders owning seven per centum (7%) of the ordinary issued share capital, are entitled to
appoint one Director in line with the Bank’s Articles of Association.
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